

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

5-22-2024

Strategies Small Business Owners Use to Extend Organization Life Beyond 5 Years

Terrance Lamar Miley Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations

Walden University

College of Management and Human Potential

This is to certify that the doctoral study by

Terrance Miley

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee
Dr. Inez Black, Committee Chairperson, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Dr. Denise Land, Committee Member, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

Walden University 2024

Abstract

Strategies Small Business Owners Use to Extend Organization Life Beyond 5 Years

by

Terrance Miley

MS, LSU Shreveport, 2020

BS, Grambling State University, 2010

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

June 2024

Abstract

Small businesses play a big role in the global economy, but business survival beyond the initial 5 years is often challenging. Small business owners are concerned about surviving beyond 5 years because, in the first 5 years, they face numerous obstacles that threaten their sustainability. Grounded in entrepreneurship theory, the purpose of this qualitative pragmatic inquiry was to explore strategies small business owners use to extend organizational life beyond 5 years. The participants were three small business owners in North Louisiana with a successful business beyond 5 years. Data were collected using semistructured interviews, company public documents, and company websites. Through thematic analysis, four themes were identified: (a) adapting to change, (b) strategic planning, (c) customer relationship, and (d) financial planning. A key recommendation for small business owners is to ensure that business knowledge, resources, and financial plans are implemented before starting the business to achieve success beyond 5 years. The implications for positive social change include the potential for small business owners to improve their chances of success and economic growth for the community.

Strategies Small Business Owners Use to Extend Organization Life Beyond 5 Years

by

Terrance Miley

MS, LSU Shreveport, 2020

BS, Grambling State University, 2010

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

June 2024

Dedication

First, I would like to thank my Lord and Savior Jesus Christ for the opportunity to be able to follow my dreams. I know that without mercy and grace, I could not have made it this far. I want to dedicate this doctorate to the Fuse Youth of the Greater Realness Church. I want to let them know that anything is possible. It doesn't matter how you start or where you come from; hard work and dedication will always pay off. To my beautiful children, Keonna, Isis, and Terrance Jr., this is to show you that although you may have tough obstacles that you will have to face in life, remember that nothing is too hard for God.

I would like to thank my village which continues to believe in me and encourage me throughout my life. My family is what keeps me focused on carrying loads so that I can accomplish my goals. To my parents, Mary Miley, Sharlaski Banks, and Don Banks, thanks for all that you have been throughout this process. Lastly, to my beautiful wife Donecia Banks Miley, for always being there when I needed you the most. One day I will be able to pay you back.

Acknowledgments

Firstly, I am giving thanks to the Almighty God Jesus Christ for blessing my family and me through this journey. Although there are many times when doubt has crossed my mind, you gave me the strength and courage to keep pushing. To my chair, Dr. Inez Black, thanks for pushing me and pulling the best out of me even when I doubted myself. I will always appreciate you for your support and tough love throughout this process.

I want to acknowledge my pastors, Bishop Don Banks and First Pastor Sharlaski Banks, for praying for me and my family throughout this journey. Thanks for the wisdom and many conversations that helped me understand the importance of this journey. I know I can come to you with any issue, and you always know what to do or say to make it right. Thanks for always being there for me.

I want to acknowledge my mom, Mary Miley, as a single mother for showing me what it means to work hard for your family. You always ensured I had God and showed me how to treat others. This has brought me a long way and helped me become the man I am today.

Lastly, I want to thank my wife, Donecia Banks-Miley, for going through the process and ensuring I had all the support and tools I needed to get through this journey. I would like to acknowledge my children, Keonna, Isis, and TJ, for giving me a reason to wake up every day and keep pushing. My family is everything and has helped me through it all.

Table of Contents

Li	st of Tables	V
Se	ction 1: Foundation of the Study	1
	Background of the Problem	1
	Problem and Purpose	2
	Population and Sampling	2
	Nature of the Study	3
	Research Question	4
	Interview Questions	4
	Conceptual Framework	5
	Operational Definitions	6
	Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations	7
	Assumptions	7
	Limitations	7
	Delimitations	8
	Significance of the Study	8
	Contribution to Business Practice	8
	Implications for Social Change	9
	A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature	9
	Entrepreneurship Theory	. 11
	Complementary Theories	. 14
	Additional Contrasting Theories	. 15

Entrepreneurship	21
Entrepreneur Business Planning	22
Entrepreneur Orientation	26
Factors that Impact Small Business Owners	28
Entrepreneur Education	29
Relationships	32
Entrepreneurial Barriers	34
Small Business Sustainability	35
Small Business Resource	36
Innovation	38
Small Business Strategies	39
Avoiding Small Business Failure	41
Transition	44
Section 2: The Project	46
Purpose Statement	46
Role of the Researcher	46
Participants	48
Research Method and Design	49
Research Method	49
Research Design	50
Population and Sampling	51
Ethical Research	53

Data Collection Instrum	nents	55
Data Collection Technic	que	56
Data Organization Tech	nnique	58
Data Analysis		60
Reliability and Validity	<i>7</i>	62
Reliability		63
Validity		63
Transition and Summar	у	65
Section 3: Application to Pr	rofessional Practice and Implications for Change	66
Introduction		66
Presentation of the Find	lings	66
Theme 1: Adapting	to Change	67
Theme 2: Strategic	Planning	69
Theme 3: Customer	Relationship	70
Theme 4: Financial	Planning	72
Findings Related to	Framework	74
Applications to Professi	ional Practice	75
Implications for Social	Change	76
Recommendations for A	Action	77
Recommendations for I	Further Research	78
Reflections		79
Conclusion		80

References	81
Appendix A: Interview Protocol	108
Appendix B: Interview Ouestions	109

List of Tables

Table 1	Literature Review	Sources	1
raule 1.	Literature Review	50u1ccs	1.

Section 1: Foundation of the Study

Small businesses are essential to the economy by providing jobs for local communities. According to Merrick and Howard (2020), the United States produces a large percentage of small businesses, which are often the mainstay of local communities. When entrepreneurs are thriving, they inspire others to pursue their own companies. Small businesses provide 50% to the United States' gross domestic product (USGDP), and accepting the economics behind them is crucial for their existence (Bonsu & Kuofie, 2019). Thus, identifying and understanding the strategies to implement the changes needed to survive beyond 5 years is essential to a small business entrepreneur.

Background of the Problem

Small businesses' growth is met with many challenges and failures. The experience and incompetence of the owners is a critical factor in success or failure. Incompetence accounts for 50% of failures, and inexperience accounts for 40% (Ciloci, 2022). The surging factors contributing to small business failures range from short-term to long-term. Despite small business specificities, most of them fail from the first years of their existence because of their fragility and vulnerability to the mutations of the business ecosystem (Ciloci, 2022). These failures could also be due to inadequate preparation of owners putting their companies in place for success.

Although approximately half of small businesses created are aligned towards financial success, small businesses are more likely to suffer financial failure and closure than profitable start-ups. According to Quansah and Hartz (2021), business failures can have devastating effects on both the financial stability and emotional well-being of the

families and employees associated with the company. Involvement in ideas and information with external entities as a small business may lead to innovation and internal development within the business, extending life beyond 5 years.

Problem and Purpose

The specific business problem is that some small business owners need more resources, knowledge, leadership, and business strategies to extend their business life beyond 5 years. The purpose of this pragmatic qualitative inquiry was to explore resources, knowledge, leadership, and business strategies that successful small business owners use to extend their business life beyond 5 years. The targeted population of this study was small business owners in Louisiana.

Population and Sampling

Three small business owners in Louisiana who used resources, knowledge, leadership, and business strategies with success in extending their company life for more than 5 years were selected for this study. Purposeful sampling was used as the method to collect data. Purposeful sampling is a method where researchers use judgment to select knowledgeable subjects for a study (Stratton, 2019). For the study, individuals who own small businesses were required to meet certain criteria to qualify. Participants must have resided in Louisiana and have successfully used resources, knowledge, leadership, and business strategies for 5 years of business operations. The data sources were interviews, company data, interview notes, and data from company websites.

Nature of the Study

The purpose of this study, which utilizes a qualitative pragmatic inquiry approach, was to examine the knowledge, business strategies, leadership, and resources that effective small business proprietors implement to expand their business lifespan beyond 5 years. Qualitative research involves interpretive, naturalistic methods to study human behavior and experiences (Aspers & Corte, 2019). Qualitative researchers answer openended questions that arise during the research process, seeking to answer questions related to how and why, instead of answering quantitative questions that require specific amounts or numbers (Bayot et al., 2023). In contrast, researchers focus on quantitative methods to identify and analyze measurable patterns in social behavior rather than simply interpreting the subjective meanings that individuals attach to their actions (Rahman, 2020). Palinkas et al. (2019) defined mixed methods as a type of research where the researcher gathers and examines data, combines the outcomes, and makes conclusions by using both quantitative and qualitative strategies or techniques within a single study or inquiry program.

I did not use the quantitative research approach for my study because it did not allow me to ask open-ended questions and gain a comprehensive understanding through the personal experiences of those involved. The mixed method was not used in my study because my study did not include both qualitative and quantitative, which is required in the mixed research method. For my study, the most suitable research method was qualitative research because open-ended questions could be used to delve into the strategies needed for small businesses to succeed for more than 5 years.

Qualitative methodologies consist of various designs such as ethnography, phenomenology, pragmatic inquiry, and case study, as mentioned by Tomaszewski et al. (2020). Phenomenology focuses on examining the lived experiences of individuals in the world, according to Neubauer et al. (2019). According to Krause (2021), ethnographic research involves immersing oneself within a field site and studying how individuals understand their surroundings, which is the objective of using ethnographic sensibility. The objective of narrative researchers is to decipher significant stories of individuals' lives, as narrated by them in their language and environment (Ntinda, 2019). Multiple case research has a significant advantage in cross-case analysis. Researchers who study multiple cases shift their attention from analyzing a single case to examining the differences and similarities that exist between cases (Hunziker et al., 2021). Utilizing the qualitative method makes it possible for researchers to thoroughly understand a phenomenon by exploring lived experiences (Yin, 2018). Thus, the most effective method for this study was a pragmatic qualitative inquiry to investigate the strategies, knowledge, and leadership needed to extend the lifespan of a small business beyond 5 years.

Research Question

What resources, knowledge, leadership, and business strategies do successful small business owners use to extend the organization's life beyond 5 years?

Interview Questions

- 1. What steps did you take to prepare for the development of a successful business?
- 2. What strategies are the reasons for the sustainability of your business?

- 3. What challenges did you encounter when starting your business venture?
- 4. How did you manage to get through your challenges?
- 5. What strategies are used to gain the valuable resources needed for long-term success?
- 6. What are the resources that helped you sustain the success of your business?
- 7. Is there any further information you would like to provide regarding the tactics required to expand your business beyond the 5-year mark?

Conceptual Framework

The study was based on the entrepreneurship theory framework, which was created by Schumpeter (1934). According to Brown and Thornton (2013), entrepreneurship was defined by Cantillon as a ubiquitous phenomenon, with the entrepreneur playing a critical role in the economy. Cantillon's entrepreneurs are well regulated by self-interest, competition, profit, loss system, and other market forces (Thornton, 2019). The concept of entrepreneurship involves managing and utilizing resources to establish a revolutionary economic entity to generate profits and expand despite the presence of risk and uncertainty, according to Stoilov et al. (2020). The work put in by the entrepreneur to exploit the chosen opportunity effectively plays a significant part in a small business's success or failure rate. Conceptual and empirical research that contributes to the advancement of entrepreneurship is published using entrepreneurship theory (Rauch, 2020). Entrepreneurship theory fits my study because it uses leadership and knowledge to create opportunities for innovative business strategies that can lead to success.

Operational Definitions

Bootstrap financing: Refers to the actions taken by new businesses to maintain their liquidity (Block et al., 2022).

Business failure prediction: An important tool for assessing corporate failure is (Borchert et al., 2023).

Business intelligence: Involves clarifying, planning, predicting, problem-solving, abstract thinking, and understanding for improved business effectiveness (Zheng & Khalid, 2022).

Business performance: Changes in operating venue, disruption of supply chain, business closures, and cash flows (Zhang et al., 2022).

Economic development: A function of land, labor, capital, and organization or entrepreneurship as the factors for producing goods and services (Mehmood et al., 2019).

Financial performance: Refers to the economic success of the business, while non-financial performance measures its operational success (Mozumdar et al., 2020).

Human capital: Is a vital element of intellectual capital, which signifies the critical and enduring knowledge possessed by a company in a fiercely competitive business environment (Kucharcíkova et al., 2021).

Opportunity cost: Refers to the benefit forfeited when choosing one option over another (Block et al., 2022).

Strategic planning: Is a flexible tool that helps corporations integrate sustainability into their business models (Thaher & Jaaron, 2022).

Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations

Some factors beyond my influence within this study are assumptions and limitations. Delimitations are factors that are in my control but can be obstacles that are in the way of accomplishing the study's goal. The following are the reviews and explanations of each factor within the study.

Assumptions

Assumptions should be considered risky, and therefore, need to be treated with caution. Assumptions threaten content validity, or the extent to which a measurement model captures everything a researcher might want it to (Jacobs & Wallach, 2021). Another assumption was assuming all participants would answer truthfully with detailed answers and strategies to extend small businesses that have been operating for more than 5 years is crucial for this study. I assumed that the questions asked to the participants would lead to significant insight and various strategies that can be used to assist small businesses in achieving success and flourishing beyond the initial 5 years of operation minimizing failure rates.

Limitations

Weaknesses present in a research design that could have an impact on the results and conclusions of the research are referred to as limitations (Ross & Bibler Zaidi, 2019). There are multiple limitations in this study. One limitation of this study was finding a time that worked for all parties due to usual calendaring activities. Participants being biased in answering interview questions can be a significant limitation in the study. Another limitation was that the number of participants can be a weakness of the study.

While the participation of five individuals may have met the requirements of this study, it may not have necessarily reflected the views of the broader small business community.

Delimitations

Delimitations are described as the boundaries researchers set for the study (Coker, 2022). Delimitations are what a researcher includes, whereas limitations are issues that the researcher addresses after the completion of a study and cannot control (Coker, 2022). The delimitation of this research was the number of individuals who were a part of the interview process. The amount of data collected for the research could also be limited due to the location of the small businesses being interviewed.

Significance of the Study

The significance of this study lies in its potential to aid entrepreneurs in prolonging the lifespan of their small businesses beyond the 5-year mark, specifically through the provision of valuable insights such as resources, knowledge, leadership, and business strategies guarantee that the businesses generate earnings to stay afloat. A positive income effect is when an increase in equity is combined with an increase in assets or a reduction in liabilities (Weygandt & Kimmel, 2022). With the knowledge of common difficulties and challenges that lead to business failure, entrepreneurs can proactively seek education and training. This can help them make informed decisions and navigate potential pitfalls.

Contribution to Business Practice

Implementing knowledge and strategies when starting a small business is necessary to sustain success as a new entrepreneur. According to Ciloci (2022), planning

must be adequate and continuous; that is, it must be accompanied by action. A plan without action is like not planning at all. The information provided by this research could allow small business owners to learn and understand the business strategies needed to be successful when starting a new venture. The findings of this study may improve the lives of small business owners and the communities they serve with the information provided on how to enhance their development.

Implications for Social Change

Small business owners may benefit from the study by receiving strategies to sustain their business for more than 5 years, which could contribute towards bringing about social change. The U.S. Small Business Administration (SBA) aims to provide technical and financial benefits to entrepreneurs and the small business sector. As per the SBA, small businesses contribute approximately 1.8 million net jobs to the U.S. economy each year and makeup 47.3% of all private sector jobs in the country (Alsaaty & Makhlouf, 2020). The economy thrives when small business entrepreneurs succeed because jobs can be added to the community. The local economy could be improved as a result of this study.

A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature

A literature review serves the purpose of organizing current knowledge within a specific field to make it easier to apply in subsequent studies and research (Stanef-Puică et al., 2022). This in-depth literature review consists of relevant literature regarding strategies small business owners can utilize to ensure that their organization sustains beyond five years. Lim et al. (2022) stated that literature reviews can be part of empirical

or conceptual studies or as independent studies that can be curated in several ways. The objective is to investigate any proof that could aid in the prosperity of small businesses in the future. Bringing awareness to small business owners can help prolong small businesses' life beyond 5 years.

My research includes peer-reviewed, government, journal, and book sources. I aimed to explore, compare, analyze, assemble, and review multiple sources connected to this research study. The variety of sources helped me explore the literature needed to prevent or limit small businesses from failing and provide confidence for other small business owners. The Walden Library provided the databases necessary for my research, namely ProQuest, Business Source Complete, and Academic Search Complete. Also, I utilized Business market research collection, Google Scholar, and Scholarly works for my research purposes. The keywords searched in the databases above are entrepreneurship theory, entrepreneurship, entrepreneur business planning, entrepreneur orientation, small business owners, education, relationships, small business barriers, small business sustainability, technology, innovation, innovative strategies, and small business failure.

The literature review consists of 132 total references. The literature review contains 129 peer-reviewed sources, and 119 were published within the last 5 years or less. I ensured that Walden University's literature requirement was met with at least 85 % of the sources published within 5 years of my anticipated graduation year.

Table 1

Literature Review Sources

Sources	Total#	<5 years	>5 years
Peer-reviewed	127	117	10
Books	3	1	2
Total	130	118	12

This research purpose was to investigate the small business owner's need to possess the necessary resources, knowledge, leadership skills, and business tactics to ensure the expansion of their operations beyond 5 years. The study relied on entrepreneurship theory as its conceptual framework. Entrepreneurship theory associates entrepreneurship with establishing businesses, innovation, and continual development (Mehmood et al., 2019). Small business owners are likely to benefit from the findings of this research as they may help them to, in turn, develop and implement successful approaches to sustain the growth of their companies.

Starting a small business can be an exciting and rewarding venture; however, it is no secret that many small businesses fail within the first five years of operation. To help entrepreneurs beat the odds, it is essential to have access to the right resources, knowledge, and strategies. In this regard, the following topics explored various tools, techniques, and insights that can help small businesses survive and thrive beyond the critical 5-year mark and grow into successful businesses.

Entrepreneurship Theory

Entrepreneurship theory was the conceptual framework theory that was used in this study. The entrepreneurship theory was propounded by J.A. Schumpeter in 1934.

According to Schumpeter (1934), entrepreneurship success requires innovation, foresight, and creativity. Despite facing social opposition, an entrepreneur is someone who introduces new ideas and methods. According to Schumpeter and Opie (1934), an entrepreneur innovates and introduces new combinations. Innovation and creativity are supported by entrepreneurship theory, and both can help small businesses survive.

Entrepreneurs, according to Schumpeter (1934), bring innovation and creativity to the stationary economy, taking it to new heights. Innovative and proactive companies can boost their market share, gain a competitive edge, and improve their performance by taking risks (Skordoulis et al., 2020). The development of strategies is crucial for small business owners to innovate different changes to make the profits needed to be successful. A firm's entrepreneurial disposition will effectively predict performance (Akomea et al., 2022). In the context of this research, the theory of entrepreneurship may help develop business strategies that support the success of small businesses.

Entrepreneurship includes being competitive while taking risks to grow the organization to the highest level through innovation and creativity. According to Schumpeter and Opie (1934), entrepreneurship involves using innovation to succeed, with both benefits and dangers associated with ventures. Small business owners are sometimes forced to look for ways to gain an advantage over their competitors by effectively mastering innovation.

There should be strategies for entrepreneurs to be prepared to confront any challenges that arise daily. According to Diandra and Azmy (2020), a successful business is supported by the entrepreneurial ability to adapt to change and learn. Also, the

entrepreneurship process enables individuals to sustain and grow to face uncertainty in the business. Entrepreneurs' ability to have a plan to adapt to any change that may arise during the growing process can be an essential factor for success. Business strategies may help keep the organization honest and lead to successful entrepreneurs and a positive work environment. Although Schumpeter and Opie's (1934) strategies have some risks, small business entrepreneurs can learn from mistakes and decrease their chances of failure. Small business owners have rough patches along their journey, which can give them the knowledge and experience to be successful.

When small business owners use the theory of entrepreneurship, they are required to risks and learn from their mistakes, leading to organizational success. Being an entrepreneur or a business enterprise owner or manager involves taking risks and showing initiative in trying to earn profits, which can be commonly referred to as entrepreneurship (Pramono et al., 2021). Entrepreneurship is a systematic process that involves ideation, action, resource mobilization, and the realization of outcomes over time. Success depends on skills such as opportunity identification, risk management, and adaptability (Lévesque & Stephan, 2020). I chose entrepreneurship theory as my framework because successful decision-making and relationships can only be achieved through trial and error. Without taking a risk and being able to adapt to change, small businesses can be overtaken by larger organizations that have the resources and connections to gain a competitive edge.

Entrepreneurs' risk-taking abilities play an important role in how profitable and successful the business will be when confronted with difficulties during changes that

small businesses have to deal with continuously. Entrepreneurship creates value and growth through innovation while requiring expertise in market dynamics and customer behavior. Successful entrepreneurs deliver superior value, generating competitive advantages (Ghosh, 2021). The idea of entrepreneurship has commonly been associated with driving economic progress, fostering originality, and encouraging ingenuity, leading to an interest in developing educational programs that encourage and enhance leadership (Boldureanu et al., 2020). Entrepreneurs can use some factors such as business planning, financial literacy, and leadership skills to educate themselves and help support the productivity and sustainability of their businesses.

Failure can happen when small business entrepreneurs are not educated or knowledgeable enough to handle difficulties arising from impromptu changes that affect the business. Schumpeter's (1934) suggested strategy for improving business survivability is to take advantage of disruptive changes and innovate accordingly. Exposure to entrepreneurial models and education programs can help small business owners improve their knowledge, enhancing their chances of success. Entrepreneurship is the avenue to factors and resources of organizational improvement that can provide the best opportunity for success. Entrepreneurship is widely acknowledged as the vigor and vitality of the economy (Jin et al., 2021). Entrepreneurship can lead to a thriving environment and enhanced productivity that small businesses need to survive.

Complementary Theories

Creation theory and discovery theory are complementary theories associated with entrepreneurship theory. The innovation the entrepreneurs develop is risky, but

entrepreneurs find ways to create opportunities for the organization. In creation theory, entrepreneurs differentiate themselves by creating a search process that is developing and iterative and presents opportunities within a decision-making context that is often unclear or uncertain (Shane & Venkataraman, 2000). According to Schumpeter's (1934) theory, market efficiency is disturbed by external shocks such as technological, demographic, and social changes. Entrepreneurs use their advantage of early access to such information to develop new products. Hang et al. (2019) also stated that the opportunity creation theory, in contrast, assumes that an opportunity emerges along with the entrepreneurs' perceptions. Creation or discovery theory is not appropriate to my study because the theory of creation posits that individual actions create opportunity. According to the discovery theory, the opportunity exists objectively independent of entrepreneurs. Entrepreneurship theory introduces new opportunities within the business by focusing on the opportunity to create and innovate within an organization for success, regardless of how risky it may be.

Additional Contrasting Theories

Systems Theory

The systems approach to sustainability is comprehensively viewed as an open system of the unit's interrelated and interdependent departments that constantly interact and interlink in the organization's operation. To achieve sustainable development, organizations must undertake significant efforts to uphold or achieve competitiveness while shouldering responsibility for elevating the social and environmental effects of human actions (Barbosa et al., 2020). Sustainability is an essential component to drive

society forward. Sustainability for small businesses is essential for survival beyond 5 years.

Some small business owners are focused on products or maximum profit without making accounting and financial systems a primary business priority. Small businesses comprise production, marketing, finance, and accounting systems that work closely together for efficiency and effectiveness in the industry. Entrepreneurs do not understand the importance of applying accounting knowledge in the financial management of small businesses (Putra, 2019). The financial state of affairs, as determined by accounting, plays a crucial role in setting the marketing budget for achieving success.

Internal and external factors of the environment influence the system of the business unit. The systems approach of management for organizational sustainability of small businesses in the industry assesses the overall effectiveness of the whole system rather than the subsystem. The business unit's success depends on the interaction of various subsystems within the unit; this implies that the decisions and actions of the business enterprise are based on the liaison between the closed system (internal system) and the external system (Ismail et al., 2017). Systems theory fails to be creative and focuses on the details small businesses need to sustain their business success.

Although systems theory can be used to assist small business owners in being successful in their organization, it differs from entrepreneurship theory. Some authors have challenged systems theory due to its perceived disconnection from research and practice demands (Turner & Baker, 2019). The general systems theory relies on relationships, decision-making, patterns, interactions, structures, and seeing wholes

(Keating & Katina, 2019). Entrepreneurship theory provides innovation and creativity, which can turn adverse situations into opportunities to enhance business success.

Chaos Theory

Chaos theory is the unpredictability function of the occurrence or behavior in the business. According to Hodder (2020), the natural system and instincts of small businesses in a competitive environment gravitate toward uniqueness; thus, addressing the volatility and susceptibility of the environment often creates chaos in the working environment in the industry. Central to chaos theory is the principle of nonlinearity (Lartey, 2020). In chaos theory, small businesses are complex and dynamic non-linear systems, and the future performance of the business unit is unpredictable in its events and actions.

Small businesses face significant challenges in maintaining their operations due to the constantly changing market. Keeping up with marketing trends and ensuring operational efficiency can create chaos within the industry. The culture of small businesses plays a vital role in understanding and managing this chaos. Ritz et al. (2019) explored the benefits of adopting digital transformation within the hierarchical structure of small businesses, highlighting its ability to withstand randomness within the organization. According to Aras (2021), chaos is a state of instability, unpredictability, and uncontrollability that is vulnerable to the effects of external factors. It requires managing unforeseeable variables and necessitates the need for strategies that foster adaptability and resilience.

According to Ritz et al. (2019), two hundred fifty small business owners were surveyed to compile data and obtain results. The results of the data analysis shed light on how small businesses engage with digital marketing. Furthermore, the findings suggest that small business owners and managers may have motivations beyond technological advantages. In their study, Ritz et al. (2019) found that the DIY behavior model also applies to small business owners and managers who require specialized knowledge for particular tasks. It is worth noting that the organization's attitude and culture influence the behavior of control units.

Small businesses should determine their target market group and set achievable goals and objectives. The principles of unpredictability are highlighted in chaos theory, which proposes that it is difficult to model and predict nonlinear systems (Kumar & Sharma, 2021). They should identify the necessary steps to achieve success. Once these are established, the next step is to clarify their purpose, vision, and mission to avoid confusion. Finally, utilizing various tools and examples can help small businesses manage chaos and achieve exceptional results (Damschroder, 2020). It is essential to address the company's capabilities and set realistic goals for success.

As per chaos theory principles, an organization's behavior is influenced by its project base and work energy. This underscores the importance of carefully managing these factors to ensure efficient and effective operations. Using the chaos theory, small businesses initiate conditions that can impact project outcomes. In chaotic and uncertain situations, organizational accuracy is essential in providing clear and understandable

responses to all parties involved (Purworini et al., 2019). In a general sense, the theory addresses a similarly unpredictable social system.

The assumption is that the unpredictable system represents the overall behavior of the business unit and consequently gives some predictability even in an unstable environment. Chaos theory takes a broader perspective by analyzing organizational populations and communities, as opposed to solely focusing on individual organizations (Aricioglu & Berk, 2022). Although chaos theory has had some success within small businesses, unpredictable behavior, and undesirable disorganization or confusion are the reasons it is not a good choice for my conceptual framework. Developing a business plan, essential to guiding startup growth beyond 5 years, involves setting goals, strategies, and milestones. Chaos theory's focus on unpredictable outcomes might not align well with the structured planning required for small businesses.

Complexity Theory

The complexity theory articulates the collective behavior of the system interaction in the environment. According to Hidalgo (2021), complexity theory is an understanding of the system in the industry and how the economy and the global corporation work to grow, evolve, and adapt to environmental changes in small businesses. Complexity theory focuses on the relationship between the system and the members of the industry that have a substantial influence on the market. The interaction of different systemic dimensions within the small business unit in the industry helps the organization to the science of operation in the industry (Jain et al., 2021). The interaction encourages the

small business owner to simplify the complexity of the market in their operation to enable their sustainability.

The Occam razor helps the small business unit simplify the complexities of the environment through detailed behavioral calls in the organization. Li (2020) elaborated on how attitude and behavior affect the organization's operation and determine the impact and the influence the organization will have on the external environment and the influence of changes in the environment. Li (2020) suggested that adopting the complexity approach can offer additional advantages, such as allowing companies to view strategy as a guide for action rather than a predetermined plan. It is recommended for leaders in the business world to concentrate on executing short-term plans while keeping the long-term objectives and goals in sight.

Small businesses often struggle to navigate the complex organizational structure of the business environment. Small businesses face a considerable challenge in establishing sustainable management models, which requires extensive planning and operationalization efforts. This challenge underscores the need for more specialized literature on sustainable management models, as highlighted by Barbosa et al. (2020). The intricate structure of corporations can be a disadvantage for small businesses, often failing. This complexity can be found in the information technology system and management hierarchy. The intricacies of corporate management can pose a challenge for small businesses, as complex theories involve multiple variables and relationships, making it difficult to maintain focus and clarity on necessary strategies. Additionally, these theories may not always align with the practical concerns of small business owners.

Entrepreneurship

Entrepreneurship development plays a significant role in the economy and gives small businesses a competitive edge. The economist Cantillon's principles were instrumental in developing various definitions and interpretations of entrepreneurship by scholars (Parker, 2018). Entrepreneurship is based on taking risks to enhance business productivity to survive in a competitive market. According to Schumpeter (1934), entrepreneurship involves an entrepreneur's inclination toward innovation to attain success. Entrepreneurship also comes with risks and rewards associated with innovative ventures. Schumpeter defined entrepreneurship as the ability to capitalize on change in various ways from an innovation perspective. Entrepreneurship is a key driver of economic growth in capitalist societies, according to (Cho & Lee, 2018). Entrepreneurs review every avenue of opportunity to find the best method for small businesses to be successful.

Entrepreneurs' ability to discover and make positive use of available opportunities is an essential characteristic of entrepreneurship. According to Schumpeter's (1934) research, the connection between entrepreneurship, innovation, and enterprises has been present in the early stages of entrepreneurial literature. Ijieh (2020) posited that entrepreneurship is nothing, but practices performed by the entrepreneur that include processes such as creativity, risk-related and unpredictable decision-making.

Entrepreneurship involves innovation and creativity, which enhances small businesses' chances to succeed and limit failure. Exploiting the opportunities of the resources available and coming up with practical business ideas limit small business failure.

Entrepreneurs should evaluate the impending strategies of success and failure before finding the resources. An important entrepreneur activity should be to identify the risks while pursuing their endeavors. Entrepreneurship is a process of value creation that involves the efforts of innovative individuals and organizations operating in dynamic environments that offer opportunities for developing novel products, services, and businesses. It also entails the formation of new policies to facilitate sustainable economic growth and social development in diverse settings (Baker & Welter, 2020).

Entrepreneurship brings many positive effects while also being affected by various risks (Havierniková & Kordoš, 2019). Eliminating, identifying, and analyzing possible risks is key to maintaining success. Considering associated risks and evaluating the creative advantages is essential to entrepreneurs' success before obligating their resources.

Entrepreneur Business Planning

Small business owners must be strategic in their business approach to guarantee the company's continued success. Assessing both opportunities for success and risks of failure is crucial for beneficial planning. Cho and Lee (2018) asserted that entrepreneurs are capable of making rational decisions aimed at maximizing profits, even in the face of risks. The formality of the strategic planning processes is important for enhancing small businesses' performance (George et al., 2019). Elements such as knowledge, resources, and finances may contribute to the success or failure of a small business.

Establishing optional strategies that will help create better opportunities can impact the outcome of small business success. When owners of small businesses are asked about effective strategies for extending the lifespan of their companies,

diversification is often mentioned as one of the essential options (López et al., 2022). A small business can become more resistant to the effects of change and the impact of external shocks by diversifying the goods and services it provides to its customers.

Cutting expenses is another typical tactic employed by owners of small businesses to boost their bottom line and prolong the lifespan of their companies (Gatti et al., 2019).

Reducing operating costs might release resources available for reinvestment in activities that foster expansion. Reducing operating costs can include increasing product and service prices, reducing employees' weekly hours, and finding cost-efficient ways to advertise the business.

Digital services are an approach small business owners can use to reduce the organization's operating costs. Small enterprises face distinct obstacles and are usually limited by inadequate resources such as time, information, knowledge, and budget, which impede their ability to adopt the latest technologies (Ritz et al., 2019). These are just a few ways to reduce business costs with technology, from teleconference and online payment services to open-source software and remote desktop applications. Offer discounts or incentives to persuade customers to use the electronic process instead of the traditional way. When a customer uses paperless options, the company does not have to use as much paper, which gives them a cost advantage and helps them reduce operating costs. The cost of paper, postage, and ink can increase business expenses.

Small business owners need efficient marketing strategies to prolong their lifespan. Marketing may help raise people's awareness of the company and its goods or services, recruit new consumers, and strengthen customer loyalty among current

customers (Sorenson et al., 2021). Small business leaders must innovate and be creative to develop a marketing strategy successfully. The method that small businesses might use to lengthen the organization's life span can also provide a positive economic outcome.

Implementing strategic business planning may contribute to the success of small businesses. Despite the increasing number of young graduates joining the entrepreneurship trend, the failure rate among thousands of entrepreneurs each year remains relatively high (Klimas et al., 2021). New small business owners can use ideas from entrepreneurs who must prolong their organization's life beyond 5 years. Every small business owner should choose the best strategies tailored to the type of business they oversee. Barbosa et al. (2020) indicated that the sustainable practice efforts identified in small businesses were characterized by informality and the need for more planning. Small business owners can make critical decisions within the company's activities to allow the most significant performance potential.

As a small business owner, it is essential to prioritize strategic planning to ensure the success of your organization. George et al. (2019) argued that strategic planning can greatly enhance organizational effectiveness. This is because a well-crafted plan can promote financial growth and minimize the likelihood of failure. Therefore, investing time and resources into developing a strategic plan can ultimately lead to long-term success for your small business.

Small business owners have limited resources, preventing them from performing at their best within the business. According to Williams et al. (2020), given small business leaders' time and resource constraints, businesses must utilize a variety of

strategic management techniques to establish and sustain their organizations for long-term success and prosperity. Williams et al. (2020) considered 6 potential strategies and applied them to the study for evidence of how to affect small business performance. The analysis is a comprehensive overview of diverse strategic management practices that significantly impact small businesses' success.

When exploring small business strategic management practices, several factors must be considered. These include the level of entrepreneurial orientation present, the extent to which strategic planning is implemented, the degree of goal setting that occurs, the use of total quality management techniques, the amount of social capital available, and the financial ratios analysis conducted by small business owners. It is vital to establish a strategic management system to ensure that the organization is appropriately aligned and committed to achieving its objectives (Whittington et al., 2019). Through the research conducted, it was determined that certain combinations, such as those involving strategic planning, were consistently associated with success in small businesses. To achieve success on all fronts, it is crucial to incorporate a comprehensive business plan alongside the strategic plan for the organization.

Developing a robust business plan is among the most effective methods for owners of small businesses to adopt to prolong their companies' existence. Business planning is a crucial mediator variable that significantly influences the exceptional performance of a business (Cheah et al., 2019). Finance is a crucial aspect of all business activity and is often referred to as the lifeblood of such activity. For small businesses to thrive, a crucial aspect of their business plan is effective fund management. Financial

management is vital in efficiently acquiring and using funds effectively for business activities. Business planning is essential for the survival and growth of businesses globally (Yusufu et al., 2020). The company strategy must include a financial estimate covering the next 5 years. This financial estimate will be helpful to the owner in identifying any possible economic issues they may encounter in the future and developing methods to overcome these challenges.

The results and suggestions of this study are important for discovering the resources, knowledge, leadership, and business strategies that successful small business owners utilize to expand their business beyond 5 years. Knowledge as a small business owner can assist in preparing and strategizing for success in the business. The insights gained from this study can assist future small business owners in implementing strategies to avoid failure when commencing a new venture.

Entrepreneur Orientation

Entrepreneurial orientation is an essential qualification small business may need to sustain a successful organization. Entrepreneurial orientation is a significant concept when small business owners produce strategies with the expectation of creating opportunities for the organization. Entrepreneurial orientation (EO) is a concept that refers to a firm's possession and display of entrepreneurial characteristics such as innovation, risk-taking, proactiveness, autonomy, and competitive aggressiveness (Wahyuni & Sara, 2020). EO is an attribute of an organization that reflects a pattern of entrepreneurial behavior through new entries (Balasubramanian et al., 2020). EO consists of creativity, innovation, and taking risks. EO refers to the level of focus and

commitment towards entrepreneurship within a particular business or organization (Palmer et al., 2019). Small business owners can depend on entrepreneurial orientation as a competitive advantage that can lead to new ideas and creations to improve the company's performance.

Entrepreneurs may have a better opportunity to experience growth and extend their business life by taking risks and innovation. Creativity is a critical trait for entrepreneurs as it inspires new ideas, products, services, and ventures (Deshwal & Ali, 2020). Understanding creativity is recognizing and developing the creative potential within oneself and others (Kim, 2019). EO consists of organizational behaviors in small businesses that can lead to the skills needed for success in entrepreneurship.

The success or failure of a small business hinges on its performance.

Entrepreneurs' ability to provide consumers with the best possible service is the determining factor for success. EO is particularly effective in handling the challenges that come with a constantly changing external environment, as well as the innate tendency towards rigidity and resistance to change that can occur internally (Covin et al., 2020).

EO can drive the entrepreneur to pursue innovative opportunities and be aggressive when change is needed for a competitive advantage. The long-term success of small businesses continues to be influenced by the creativity of entrepreneurs.

Entrepreneurs must survive in a market with resources in demand and find a way to provide the products and services needed. According to Neneh (2019), entrepreneurial alertness is a cognitive process that enables entrepreneurs to be acutely aware of their surroundings and is a crucial element of entrepreneurship. Zhao et al. (2021) suggest that

entrepreneurs are motivated to satisfy customers' perceived needs to generate and obtain value. EO is an essential part of entrepreneurial alertness. Entrepreneurs' ability to identify can result in the development of small businesses' creative and innovative ideas.

Factors that Impact Small Business Owners

Small business owners deal with some factors that can impact their business from achieving success beyond 5 years of service. Brem et al. (2021) explored the articulation of entrepreneurial strategy for small businesses to ensure the firms have organizational integration in their operation despite the factors that contributed to the failure of small businesses. Brem et al. (2021) explored pandemic-driven tech advancements that could inspire innovative solutions to existing and future problems. The findings reveal that technology has played a significant role in supporting small businesses during the COVID-19 pandemic. By incorporating strategies such as videoconferencing, online education, and increased internet streaming services, technology has helped many businesses extend their longevity. Small businesses have successfully integrated technology to develop their operations during and after the pandemic. Small business owners can adopt effective business strategies to ensure their longevity beyond 5 years, even in adverse circumstances.

The integration ensures the resources are rationally distributed for the sustainability aspect of the firm in the industry in the midterm. The experience of planning, monitoring, controlling, and evaluating the operation through the entrepreneurial strategy ensures that the organization's workforce is channeled into one direction. Having one direction ensures the firm is sustainable and thus its implication of

the strategies to its sustainability in the industry (Buheji & Ahmed, 2020). Having one direction in the operation of the business reduces the repulsion and collusion of the operation and activity of the small business unit. Entrepreneurs' education is vital to the entrepreneurial strategy, bringing success to the business.

Entrepreneur Education

Entrepreneurship education plays a vital role as an opportunity to sustain success in a small business. Different education practices can educate and provide knowledge to small business owners as an avenue for success. The worldwide growth and development of entrepreneurship education is evident (Fox et al., 2018). Games aimed at improving deal-making, negotiation skills, networking, and ethics have been the primary focus of entrepreneurship education, as per the findings of Fox et al., (2018). Fox et al. (2018) focus on game simulations as an educational practice that helps entrepreneurs develop growth in small businesses. The success of a business can be improved by developing knowledge and business strategies as an entrepreneur. The listed game simulations focus on real-life situations that can help extend the life of a business.

The simulated games consist of problem-solving tasks and interactions consistent with real-world issues. The information provided is on small business management in the United States. According to Fox et al. (2018) findings, the games enhanced the student's entrepreneurial preparedness and provided knowledge to help when beginning a new business venture. Knowledge and education are a necessity entrepreneurs need to be successful when starting a small business.

The entrepreneur's education level can directly influence the opportunities and performance of an organization. An educated workforce can give entrepreneurs a competitive advantage when implementing strategies to enhance their business. In addition to traditional business training, entrepreneurship education needs to incorporate unconventional instruction on leadership, negotiation abilities, originality, ingenuity, and the creation of new products (Galvao et al., 2018). Sullivan et al. (2021) suggested learning diverse domains of activities can enhance entrepreneurial knowledge to tackle business challenges. The economy thrives off small businesses, and when they continue to fail, there is an increase in the unemployment problem in society. A negative impact of small business failure is unemployment.

Encouraging individuals to acquire vocational or technical skills to establish their businesses can address unemployment, but it can only be a permanent solution if these entrepreneurs possess marketing skills that can sustain their businesses in the long run. Research has shown that up to 80% of small businesses fail within the first 5 years, highlighting the importance of equipping entrepreneurs with the necessary tools for long-term success (Omojola, 2019). The teaching of entrepreneurship remains a sought-after field of study at the secondary education level and is widely seen as a vehicle for fostering sustainable and innovative economic and social growth, according to Galvao et al. (2018). Providing our young future entrepreneurs the opportunity to acquire the knowledge and skills needed in educational programs can reduce the small business failure rate during the first 5 years of service.

Entrepreneurial education can provide a better understanding of the small business market. Entrepreneurship education research relies heavily on comprehending the concepts of entrepreneurship and learning (Seikkula-Leino, 2018). Omojola (2019) suggested that entrepreneurs should undergo comprehensive and detailed training in marketing as business owners' and managers' deep knowledge of marketing is likely to significantly reduce the risk of business failure. Being educated is crucial to achieving success, and it can also serve as a valuable tool for ensuring the sustainability of small businesses.

An educated population can influence the success of small businesses. The field of entrepreneurship education is rapidly expanding worldwide, as it is recognized for its potential to bridge the gap between practical business applications and academic concepts (Ratten & Usmanij, 2021). Encouraging individuals to start their businesses is crucial in creating opportunities not only for themselves but also for others, as emphasized by Hameed and Irfan (2019). To start a business, the individual must be knowledgeable and be able to adapt to change within the job market.

The burden of being a small business owner demands knowing how to react to challenges and what it takes to survive. According to Hameed and Irfan (2019), entrepreneurship education should be designed for students to understand the more important attributes and critical knowledge areas. It is widely agreed that possessing knowledge is beneficial for creating opportunities and can have a beneficial impact on the success of new ventures (Lattacher et al., 2021). Educated individuals can use their knowledge to develop an opportunity that leads to success when challenges arise.

Education plays a significant role in knowing how to innovate to extend the life of a small business beyond 5 years.

Higher education institutions can prepare entrepreneurs by developing individuals with an understanding of how to survive in a competitive market. The practical significance of entrepreneurship education and its role in accelerating the economic well-being of the global economy has led to its growth as a research area (Ratten & Usmanij, 2021). Entrepreneurship education that draws on successful experiences is a common practice in many higher education institutions. Small business owners can use these institutions to learn responsibility and maintain a successful business. Higher education institutions can create a learning opportunity for young individuals who are future small business owners.

There are skills that small business owners should have to deal with the difficulties that come with starting a new business venture. To achieve success as an entrepreneur, it is important to possess the essential skills to tackle the challenges that come with entrepreneurship. Students' chances of succeeding as entrepreneurs can be enhanced by improving their skills and boosting their confidence levels (Cho & Lee, 2018). Knowledge is power and can be the main factor in small business owners' success. Entrepreneurship education can decrease the negative impact of small business failure, and they can avoid the mistakes that cause failure.

Relationships

Establishing solid connections with one's clientele is another fundamental approach that owners of small businesses may use to lengthen their organizations'

lifespan. Customer relationship management strategies have been extensively used in servicing sectors, to enhance customer satisfaction and loyalty for the long term (Herman et al., 2020). Small business entrepreneurs must make it their mission to provide their clients with the highest possible level of service and always be accessible to answer any queries or resolve any problems their clients could have.

Developing a great working atmosphere and having the right employees leads to satisfied customers and long-term success. The owners of small businesses should also place a great emphasis on developing a capable workforce. This team must be composed of people with expertise and abilities that complement one another. There are several determinants that can impact employee performance, including but not limited to the work milieu and job contentment (Badrianto & Ekhsan, 2020). The owner is responsible for providing their staff with the tools and education they need to be successful in their roles (Segal, 2019). In addition, the proprietor is responsible for establishing a constructive working atmosphere that inspires employee commitment and inspiration.

There are also several other legal procedures that entrepreneurs of small businesses may employ to extend the lifespan of their companies. These essential steps include incorporating the company, acquiring the relevant licenses and permissions, and securing its intellectual property (Roth, 2020). Small business owners may build a strong foundation for their companies, making it more difficult for their rivals to steal their clients and ideas.

Entrepreneurial Barriers

When owners of small businesses attempt to prolong the existence of their companies for more than 5 years, they confront obstacles. While some companies are successful despite these obstacles and continue to operate, others may not have as much good fortune (Diamandis & Kotler, 2020). In this study, I explored some business strategies needed to overcome failure in small businesses. Any small business with a business plan before starting is a better fit to deal with the trials that arise.

Finding a healthy balance between one's personal life and professional responsibilities is one of the most challenging issues that owners of small businesses confront. The path to attaining the right balance between working and living life gains intellectual currency, focusing on how forward-thinking organizations can empower their employees to attain and sustain that balance (Young et al., 2019). A balance between life and work can be vital to a small business owner's success. There are times when specific tasks or situations can be challenging to handle. Small business owners may face obstacles that require perseverance and determination to overcome, especially during challenging times.

Another obstacle that proprietors of small businesses must overcome is managing their company's money. Financial management practices are crucial for the success of small firms and have practical implications for owners, managers, and regulators (Zada et al., 2019). The owners of small businesses should establish a financial plan and attempt to adhere to it as closely as they can. In addition, they should keep track of their income and expenditures to spot any future monetary issues in the early stages.

The business world is constantly changing, and small business owners must stay informed. Continuous employee learning is critical to organizational success in a changing business world and businesses should prioritize learning as a strategic goal and transform capabilities accordingly (Zada, 2022). Entrepreneurs must remain aware and ready to adapt to change to remain competitive and successful. On the other hand, small business owners may boost the likelihood that their companies will continue to exist in the years to come by ensuring that they remain current with relevant information and demonstrating a willingness to adapt to changing market conditions.

Small Business Sustainability

Unlike huge organizations, small businesses must work twice as much to gain a competitive edge. According to Abou-Moghli (2018) the chances of survival for small businesses are low. It is therefore crucial to develop strategies for sustaining the business at this stage. Understanding entrepreneurial orientation (EO) is recommended to enhance business survival and sustainability. Managing an organization strategically within the business environment is crucial for small businesses to achieve success beyond five years.

Management strategies that are thought-out and planned can decide if a small business owner can sustain success within their organization. Small businesses should have a coherent and cohesive strategy that explains and live by the mission and vision of the operation in the environment through innovative dimension (Sampat & Shadlen, 2021). The organization's capability in the industry determines its sustainability in the industry.

The primary remedy to success and sustainability is having a comprehensive entrepreneurial strategy for the organization that provides a sense of direction and attainable objectives and goals. Businesses have a better chance of success during crises, such as pandemics or natural disasters, the earlier a sustainable program is implemented (Barber et al., 2022). Resources entail the optimal use of financial factors and work labor efficiently. The small business workforce also determines the organization's sustainability in the industry.

Resources build sustainability of the organization in the industry by creating social responsibility as a function of the firm strategic planning. Sustainability is defined as the ability of the organization to withstand the changing environment and not gain more market share; this means that small business organizations have a significant advantage in adapting to changes in the market without much difficulty (Taiminen & Ranaweera, 2019). Strategic planning provides small business unit programs and infrastructure, such as technology, to generate a collaborative influence of the organization in the industry.

Small Business Resource

Technology is a valuable resource that creates opportunities for success in small businesses. Customers can easily find products based on their interests by searching various vendors on the retailer's website. Efficiently controlling the climate is crucial for business model growth and creativity (Zhe & Hamid, 2021). Approximately 120 online questionnaires were collected to gather literature for this study on technology. Zhe and Hamid (2021) discovered a significant positive correlation between business performance

and the use of digital technology, digital capability, and digital innovation. With rapid technology development, young business owners can develop their small businesses by adopting technology changes, allowing positive change. However, young entrepreneurs who own small businesses face an increasing number of challenges in the running of their businesses. These challenges include a lack of funds and a road map to establish the business. Technology can be a game changer for new and old small businesses to limit the overall failure rate.

Small business owners experience a slow adoption of technological aspects to run their businesses. Shaikh et al. (2021) explored technology's need for and importance of small businesses. According to Shaikh's findings, the factors that are impacting the adoption of emerging technologies in organizations include issues related to efficiency, difficulties in adoption, insufficient backing from the organization, and limited governmental support.

Shaikh et al. (2021) have searched the previous 2 decades of literature to discover the common challenges small businesses face while adopting the technology. ProQuest, Ebsco, Elsevier, Google Scholar, and other databases are used to search for research papers (Shaikh et al., 2021). The inclusion of technology entails aspects such as ensuring a better way to keep inventory. The different challenges about the adoption of technology and how to resolve the issue can help the permanence of an organization.

Small business management is critical and requires entrepreneurs to adopt policy effectiveness and survival capabilities. Bartlett and Morse (2020) analyzed some of the capabilities that small firms should adopt. The survival capabilities vary depending on the

firm's size. The capabilities consist of working capital loans, labor cost subsidies, and lease/debt payment restructuring programs, which all can be accessed through online programs.

Bartlett and Morse (2020) analyzed how the employment size of a small business contributes to its survival by exploring the concepts of revenue resiliency, labor flexibility, and committed costs. According to Bartlett and Morse, secondary data was used from two databases in Oakland, California, which consist of one thousand small businesses. Bartlett and Morse's research has shown that resources, such as loans for small businesses, have a significant impact on the growth and longevity of a business. Small businesses that successfully secured funds had a 20.5% higher chance of survival. The research can demonstrate the importance of resources for small business success beyond 5 years. Small businesses can greatly benefit from investing in effective resources that can result in a substantial increase in revenue and establish a strong foundation for long-term success even beyond the first 5 years.

Innovation

Small businesses can use the innovation of technology, new products, and services to support the challenges of being successful. Innovation is widely acknowledged as the primary catalyst for economic growth and is crucial in establishing a competitive edge for enterprises. In the current fast-moving and ever-changing market, businesses must possess this essential component to remain competitive and stay ahead of the game. Optimal innovative activity is hindered by market failure, which necessitates the intervention of the government, as stated by Mamun (2018). The government can

play an essential role in small business support by providing additional funding and knowledge that can improve innovation for entrepreneurs.

Small businesses can benefit significantly from government support, which can provide valuable resources to help sustain their operations. This support can take many forms, including financial grants, promoting collaboration between industry and academia, easing regulations and taxes, and investing in education (Harel et al., 2021). To enhance their competitive strengths and ensure sustainability, many small businesses focus on improving their innovation capabilities (Hanaysha et al., 2022). Access to these valuable resources can be crucial for small businesses as they seek to innovate and maintain their business.

For small business owners, innovation is a crucial factor in promoting productivity and achieving organizational success. According to recent research by Harel et al. (2021), managers have a significant role in driving innovation within their organizations. By investing in innovation, entrepreneurs can harness its power to support their small businesses and drive success. Implementing effective strategies to foster innovation can be the key to unlocking small business growth and achieving long-term success.

Small Business Strategies

Strategies available contribute to small businesses' success within their organization. Abou-Moghli (2018) argued that developing a business strategy to improve a firm's competitive advantage is crucial since it allows entrepreneurs to stay competitive in their chosen market. Adopting a strategic and systemic approach to deploying

innovations is fundamental to fully utilize the economy's environmental, social, and economic advantages and sustainable implementation (Hristov & Chirico, 2019). A study was conducted by Abou-Moghli (2018) on the importance of strategic management for entrepreneurs maintaining a successful business. A questionnaire was distributed as part of a study on the significance of strategic management. The results indicate that proactive entrepreneurs who utilize innovative strategies are more likely to achieve success in their business.

The successful implementation of effective strategies is vital for the long-term sustainability of small businesses. In Abou-Moghli's study, successful businesses were led by entrepreneurs with innovative thinking, collaboration skills, and business acumen. Abou-Moghli (2018) discussed the five attributes of entrepreneurs: risk-taking, proactiveness, innovativeness, aggressiveness, and autonomy regarding the business's success and the development of competitiveness in the marketplace. To secure a competitive edge in the small business market, business owners must strategically plan for creativity and innovation to prevent the organization from failing.

Innovation and creation are tools used by entrepreneurs to generate organizational development, sustainability, and competitiveness. An innovation strategy is required to succeed in a competitive environment (Martin-Rios & Ciobanu, 2019). The positive correlation between financial performance and managerial capabilities is moderated by the implementation of a sustainability strategy (Ukko et al., 2019). There should already be business strategies in place by the entrepreneur when implementing innovative strategies.

Avoiding Small Business Failure

Within the initial 5 years of service, many small businesses tend to fail.

According to Boso et al. (2019), the rate of business failures worldwide is 90%. Small businesses play a crucial role in the economy, but a staggering 50% of them fail within their first five years of operation (Jackson, 2020). It is hard for small businesses to move toward success without the inability to achieve the necessary goals. The failure of small businesses is often because of the limited resources and funds they have available to help with their products and services. The main goal is to find a way to drive small business owners' success beyond 5 years.

The failure of small businesses derives from the continuous failure of entrepreneurs not being able to create, innovate or adapt to the change needed for success. When failure occurs, it mostly comes from entrepreneurs not being knowledgeable enough to comprehend what is needed to enhance the company's productivity. Amankwah-Amoah et al. (2018) have suggested that entrepreneurial learning is often associated with business failures, which typically occur due to unforeseen declines in revenues and significant rises in expenses. Entrepreneurs sometimes feel the pressure of unforeseen situations, confusion, and the pressure being put on a time limit to be successful. To survive beyond 5 years, small business owners should ensure they learn everything possible to help them manage performance and increase the productivity of their business.

Being a good manager and knowing how to plan according to the organization's structure can help limit the failure of the small business. An entrepreneur is measured by

their ability to learn, manage, plan, take risks, and produce, determining whether the business fails or succeeds. Rachapaettayakom et al. (2020) stated that small business entrepreneurs with a relatively lower level of financial knowledge are more inclined to seek out knowledge in order to ensure business survival, as they are usually responsible for all financial tasks associated with their business. Sometimes entrepreneurs are naïve to the fact that roadblocks and adverse situations are possible in the building process, which can lead to failure.

The lack of competitive drive can also lead to business failure. An entrepreneur that never gives up and continues to overcome difficult situations and obstacles can build an atmosphere for success in a small business. Challenge appraisals are considered the most effective cognitive response to stressful situations. However, such appraisals are less likely to occur unless individuals possess the confidence in their capabilities to confront and overcome the situation at hand (Chadwick & Raver, 2020). Failure can be diminished when entrepreneurs adhere to the planning and management of small businesses.

Small business failure is one of the most overwhelming experiences for entrepreneurs. Given small businesses' importance but high failure rates, a clear understanding of new business creation dynamics, particularly failure, is necessary (Adobor, 2020). The ability to overcome failure is essential to running a small business. Under specific circumstances, the experience gained from unsuccessful attempts can aid in the achievement of a successful return to entrepreneurship (Lattacher & Wdowiak, 2020). Small business owners need to take risks confidently and learn to adapt to

challenging times to improve company success. Lack of planning, knowledge, finances, and developing business skills can keep a small business from succeeding beyond 5 years.

There are many reasons that small business fails within the first 5 years of service. Entrepreneurs must learn the importance of educating themselves on managing a small business. Martinez et al. (2019) found that there are several primary factors that lead to business failure. These include not having a solid business plan, being undercapitalized, underestimating the importance of strategic planning initiatives, failing to conduct financial analyses, lacking experience, choosing a poor location, having an uncoordinated business expansion, and maintaining an unprofessional website. Proper education on how to budget the business finances and ensure the resources do not overstretch, causing failure. Entrepreneur education and experience can be a factor that determines the success or failure of an organization.

Entrepreneurs should ensure that their funds and resources are used wisely. When entrepreneurs loosely spend and invest in products or services too fast or too often, it could lead to misuse of their resources, causing failure in the early stages of their business life. To run the enterprise successfully, an entrepreneur needs to be innovative, a risk taker, and a leader; in that case, every entrepreneur faces business problems.

(Deogharia, 2020). Small businesses should always assume competition and act accordingly by innovation and creating as needed to impact the organization positively.

Although entrepreneurs would like to dodge failure in their business, sometimes it could be a great learning experience to help their organization. Learning from failure aids

entrepreneurs in gaining new information, skills, and knowledge from their failed business attempts (Omorede, 2021). Business failure also helps future business owners to make better choices, gain knowledge, and develop the innovative skills needed to survive beyond 5 years. According to Boso et al. (2019), experiencing business failure may assist in rebuilding the necessary confidence and knowledge required to embark on a new entrepreneurial venture. Business failure can be limited when small business owners focus on being knowledgeable and understanding the importance of profit margins.

Transition

In this qualitative pragmatic qualitative inquiry, I presented an overview of the study, emphasizing the problem statement and the existing gap in comprehending how small business owners can sustain and expand their businesses beyond five years of operation. The first section of the study included a detailed explanation of the foundation, such as the purpose statement, research question, nature of the study, conceptual framework, and research significance. The conceptual framework, operational definitions, assumptions, limitations, delimitations, and literature review were also discussed to support the pragmatic qualitative inquiry. This study pertains to the entrepreneur's knowledge, leadership, and business strategies that improve the likelihood of extending the business's lifespan. The first section concluded with a synthesis of the literature from the past five years, which explored the business strategies, resources, and knowledge to maximize the company's life.

Section 2 contains the study's purpose, describes the researcher's role, the participants I selected, research method and design, population and sampling, ethical

research, data collection instruments and techniques, data organization techniques, data analysis, reliability, and validity. Section 3 consists of the presentation of findings, the application of professional practice, the implication of social change, the recommendation for action, the recommendation for further research, reflection, and the conclusion.

Section 2: The Project

Purpose Statement

The purpose of this pragmatic qualitative inquiry was to explore resources, knowledge, leadership, and business strategies that successful small business owners use to extend the organization's life beyond 5 years.

Role of the Researcher

Conducting a pragmatic qualitative inquiry can be complex and confusing for researchers. The primary responsibility of the researcher is to create a platform where participants can share their views and opinions while also analyzing multiple perspectives to develop a narrative (Karagiozis, 2018). The researcher is responsible for collecting all necessary data and acting as the data collection instrument. To ensure validity and avoid rival explanations, the qualitative researcher must follow rigorous and explicit procedures (Yin, 2018). As the primary researcher, it was important that I know and understand leadership, resources, and small business strategies.

I once was a small business owner, but lacking resources and finances prevented me from succeeding. Small business entrepreneurs who operate to meet their basic needs do so on a smaller scale with limited resources and capital (Rashid & Ratten, 2022). I live in Monroe, Louisiana; therefore, I have acquaintances who are small business owners, who have connected me to some of the participants for my study. Additionally, I plan to open a real estate business to support the growth and development of small businesses in my community.

The ethical principles set forth by the National Commission for the Protection of Human Subjects of Biomedical and Behavioral Research (NCPHSBBR)'s Belmont Report were followed in this study (NCPHSBBR, 1979). These principles include justice, beneficence, and respect for individuals (NCPHSBBR, 1979). The authors of the Belmont Report provided a summary of the appropriate standards to ensure the protection of human subjects participating in research studies and identified three fundamental principles that can be applied to research studies that involve human subjects (NCPHSBBR, 1979). These three fundamental principles were followed during my study: respect for persons, beneficence, and justice by ensuring that all participants were comfortable during the interview.

Individual bias can be detrimental when collecting information for a research study. Bias is any tendency to prevent unprejudiced consideration of a question (Carmichael & Kline, 2023). Understanding the types of bias and assessing their impact on the magnitude and direction of the observed effect is vital (Stuckless & Parfrey, 2021). Johnson et al. (2020) suggested that qualitative research should explicitly align with the research question while being bias-free. I mitigated bias by including an accurate interpretation of every participant's response to the interview questions, ensuring that all answers were accurate and not influenced by my lens or perspective. I ensured the accuracy of my study by implementing member checking and furnishing the participants with a duplicate of the transcript to be validated, assuring the accuracy of the research study. Proper data analysis and accurate information can prevent biased findings from occurring within the study.

I used an interview protocol to ensure consistency when meeting each participant. I outlined and provided detailed instructions for each stage of the interview process in my interview protocol. This ensures consistency and rigor throughout the process. Good semistructured interviews require a relational approach and effective interviewing skills to ensure quality data (DeJonckheere & Vaughn, 2019). I asked open-ended questions to get the most accurate response out of each participant. Follow-up probe questions were also asked so participants could expound on their responses to get a better explanation of the topic. The semistructured interview process allowed me to gather more specific evidence for my study.

Participants

The participants in the study met the criteria of being successful as a business owner for at least 5 years. The criteria needed for participants were being small business owners for more than 5 years, being in Louisiana, and providing documents that certify that they are a small business such as LLC, federal tax identification, license, permits, and any trademarks they may have. I acquired a roster of small businesses from the local chamber of commerce to guarantee sufficient participants for my study. The information received was the years of establishment, phone numbers, small business owner names, and addresses. DeJonckheere and Vaughn (2019) involved participants in their research to gain insights and advance knowledge in their field. I selected three small business owners from different industries that met the required years of service and success.

The participants' trust was earned by being honest, explaining my study's purpose, and addressing any concerns or uncertainties they may have had. I assured the

participants of their confidentiality and privacy during the interview. Respecting participant's privacy helps to validate the protocol of conducting research (DeJonckheere & Vaughn, 2019). Establishing rapport with the participants is vital to get the best, most direct, and most truthful responses during interviews. As the researcher, I also ensured the environment and place where the interview was conducted were comfortable and appealing to the participants.

Research Method and Design

Research Method

The main three distinct research methods are qualitative, quantitative, and mixed-method. These methods serve as the primary means of conducting research and analyzing data. Quantitative research is based more on statistics and closed-ended questions. The quantitative method was deemed inappropriate for my study because it does not provide a unique understanding of the decision-making that drives small business success. The mixed methods approach requires both qualitative and quantitative data collection to address research questions (Dawadi et al., 2021). The mixed methods research approach was not considered appropriate for my study because it includes a quantitative and qualitative method, which did not serve as the anticipated goal for my study.

I reviewed the different methods and decided that qualitative research was the best method for determining strategies to extend small businesses beyond 5 years. The qualitative method uses the participant's experiences during their business venture.

Accessing the thoughts and feelings of the participants who lived through the process gives a better understanding of the experience. Stahl and King (2020) suggested that

qualitative research is uniquely positioned to provide researchers with narrative data that closely relates to human experience. Good stories and other people's experiences can teach us valuable lessons. Rashid et al. (2019) stated that using qualitative case study methodology allows researchers to comprehensively examine intricate phenomena within a particular context. I used the qualitative method to get answers to the questions on practical strategies that are needed to establish a successful business beyond 5 years.

Research Design

Four research designs were considered for this study, all within the qualitative methodology. Research designs consist of tools, research methodologies, and techniques used to conduct the research. Some designs in qualitative research studies include phenomenology, ethnography, pragmatic inquiry, and case study (Hameed, 2020). When conducting research, the chosen design needs to be relevant to the study topic.

According to Yin (2018), a case study design is suitable for research questions that focus on what, how, or why and when the researcher has limited or no control over the conditions. One commonly used design is phenomenology, which involves exploring a specific phenomenon through participants' personal experiences and analyzing the collected data to explain it (Turhan, 2019). Tenny et al. (2021) noted that a phenomenology design is particularly useful for capturing participants' lived experiences. However, for my study, I have chosen not to use phenomenology as it does not align with my focus on exploring actions that are not solely influenced by lived experiences.

Ethnography is about telling a credible, rigorous, and authentic story.

Ethnography captures the local context and voices of people through verbatim quotations

and detailed descriptions of events (Fetterman, 2019). Ethnography is a scientific method in which researchers explore and observe human relationships and behaviors in their natural environment (Turhan, 2019). The reason for not opting for an ethnographic design in my study was that neither society nor culture were part of my research.

I chose the design best tailored to my research study and presented the best opportunity for a successful study. Pragmatism is a suitable approach to exploring organizational processes because it emphasizes knowledge through experience and encourages analyzing practices through experience and action (Kelly & Corderio, 2020). Pragmatic inquiry aims to create new knowledge based on practice, knowledge that is useful for, and validated in, practice (Ormerod, 2021). I conducted my study using pragmatic qualitative inquiry to investigate the resources, knowledge, leadership, and business strategies that successful small business owners employ to extend the organization's life beyond 5 years.

My research study became credible after data saturation was met. Data saturation is the point at which no new information is uncovered (Guest et al., 2020). Fusch and Ness (2015) proposed that the degree to which fresh data replicates what was conveyed in previous data is defined as data saturation. I achieved data saturation after my research and interviewing of participants revealed there was no new data for my research study.

Population and Sampling

When the researcher selects a population to study, it is called sampling. Moser and Korstjens (2017) highlighted that a qualitative research sampling plan outlines the required number of observations, interviews, focus group discussions, or cases that are

needed to generate comprehensive data contributing to the research findings. Research is conducted on samples because studying the entire population is rarely feasible or even necessary (Andrade, 2021). Sample size and target population are vital when providing data for a research study.

Small business owners in Louisiana who have been able to expand their business beyond 5 years of service were my target population. The local chamber of commerce had a list of small businesses available for the research study. I chose three knowledgeable participants who have successfully extended their business 5 years or more.

I was responsible for providing a safe and comfortable environment for each participant. The interviews were done both via Zoom and face-to-face. Interviews are a method of collecting data through face-to-face, telephone, or online questioning by an interviewer (Adeoye-Olatunde & Olenik, 2021). I provided a select list of neutral, safe, and private locations for the participants, such as a local Books-A-Million store, library, or video conference.

Purposeful sampling is usually chosen when researchers are doing a qualitative study. Purposeful samples are generally small, so their utility and credibility are questioned based on their logic and purpose (Shaheen & Pradhan, 2019). The justification for using purposeful sampling is that it identifies individuals or organizations best suited to help resolve your research issue and works best when dealing with background data about the research topic. Thus, the purposive sampling design enhances the data's trustworthiness and rigor. (Campbell et al., 2020). Researchers are to ensure that the

participants are carefully selected to get an in-depth data analysis for the study. Utilizing purposeful sampling is vital to selecting small business owners to participate in this study.

When doing a qualitative study, there is a relationship between the knowledge and value of the study participants and data saturation successes. Researchers are currently paying attention to the issue of saturation as a means of improving the quality and credibility of qualitative research and enhancing rigor and validity in this approach (Hennink et al., 2019). Reaching data saturation is the ultimate goal for researchers, as it marks the point where no new information applicable to the topic can be obtained (DeJonckheere & Vaughn, 2019). To ensure data saturation, I used techniques during the interview such as validating the information from face-to-face interviews, conducting member checking, following up with participants to verify that the information I collected aligns with their answers, and reviewing all available data collected for support of the participants' answers. Selecting qualified participants to produce data and information supporting the topic qualified and validated my study. Data saturation was achieved when there were no new data to gain.

Ethical Research

Each participant received informed consent forms that included the purpose of the study, the research question, expectations of the study, and how the gathered data will be protected. The moment of informed consent is crucial as it enables patients to comprehend their condition, the procedure they will undergo, and the potential consequences that may arise as a result (Perin et al., 2021). I explained the right to

withdraw to each participant to ensure they understood they could decline without any adverse penalties or repercussions. I informed each participant that they can decline involvement with the study at any time before the final publication by phone, in person, or email notification. Participants must know their right to refuse to answer questions at any time.

The participants were informed that they would not be incentivized to participate in the study. Researchers ensure that the ethical protection of participants is suitable by providing them with documents notifying them that their participation in the study is voluntary. According to Husband (2020), informed consent provides participants with complete information about the research, including its nature, methodology, expected outcomes, their role in the study, dissemination of results, and involvement in the research process. The study participants were informed that they were not required to respond to any questions they were uncomfortable answering.

Protecting the organization names of the participants and ensuring that they remain anonymous if they choose to be is essential. In order to safeguard the confidentiality of the individuals involved, it is essential for researchers to encrypt computer-based files, keep physical documents in a secure, locked file cabinet, and eliminate personal identifiers from study documents at the earliest convenience (Holland & Linvill, 2019). Privacy in research refers to protecting participants' rights to gain access to their participation in the study. The researcher's job is to protect the participants' privacy and keep all information and data provided confidential.

Without adequate security systems and processes in place, the risk of a data breach is high (Carter, 2019). The participants' names and companies were protected by codes and unique identifiers to protect the confidentiality of participants. Made-up names are also used to protect the confidentiality of the participant's personal information. For example, the codes P1, P2, and P3 were used to assign responses to participants; only I, as the researcher, have the key to indicate which number belongs to which participant. Each participant was also notified that the data would be stored on an encrypted scan disk for 5 years. All data will be destroyed after 5 years.

Data Collection Instruments

As the primary data collector for this study, I am responsible for ensuring a quality, clear, and valid allocation of the phenomenon about the strategies small business owners use to extend organizational life beyond 5 years. Goldkuhl (2019) suggested there are 12 ways researchers could generate evidence data: interviews, observation, participant observation, documentation, questionnaires, intervention study, practice-based design study, lab-based design study, focus group, test study, self-reporting, and physical artifacts. As this study's primary data collection instrument, I used interview transcripts, interview notes, and associated data from company websites.

Meeting with the research participants allowed for more privacy and allowed the researcher to create an intimate atmosphere with the participants. The interviews were recorded and transcribed, yielding a semistructured narrative response to the experience-driven questions. I used member checking and transcript review to enhance the validity and reliability of the data collected and examined during this research. Member checking

ensures the sources are credible by validating the data (Zairul, 2021). Researchers sometimes employ transcript reviewing to enable participants to revise or remove statements they have made (Candela, 2019). Member Checking assures that the participants views align with the data collected from the interviews, validating the study findings. The researcher using the methods required to analyze the study's validity can result in more robust findings and conclusions to help extend the success of small businesses beyond 5 years.

Accurately capturing the participant's experiences and views enables the researcher to obtain valid data saturation. McKim (2023) emphasized the significance of reflecting on personal experiences or narratives, which is crucial in upholding the credibility of qualitative research. I discussed all findings with each participant to ensure all data aligned with the participant's views. The interview protocol can be found in Appendix A. I contacted participants through the semistructured interview process by email and telephone to get clarification on their responses.

Data Collection Technique

The primary data collection approach involved conducting face-to-face interviews. These interviews followed a semistructured format, allowing for a more flexible approach while maintaining consistency across all participants. This method has been chosen as it allowed for a more personal and in-depth exploration of participants' experiences and perspectives, ultimately contributing to my research findings' overall quality and validity. Semistructured interviews are commonly used in social sciences and clinical settings to gather qualitative research data (Magaldi & Berler, 2020). The

semistructured interviews allow participants to respond to open-ended questions and share experiences they have encountered as small business owners.

Archival documents were also used for data collection. The advantage of archival documents is that they can be used to enhance the data collected from the semistructured interviews. Archive documents include yearly company financial records, revenue loss reports, and associated data from websites like online marketing. The sources of archival data utilized in this study consist of multiple channels, including company annual reports, news articles, press releases, and websites, as reported by Hanell et al. (2020). The interview participants' answers should confirm the archive data. The disadvantage of the archive data is that without the participants' input, it could not substantiate their authenticity. The semistructured interviews gained insight from small business owners and their strategies to maintain a successful business beyond 5 years.

Semistructured interviews allow the researcher to collect significant data in a qualitative study. Semistructured in-depth interviews are a common qualitative research method where researchers and participants engage in open-ended conversations guided by a flexible protocol and supplemented with follow-up questions, probes, and comments (DeJonckheere & Vaughn, 2019). Researchers can gather more information by asking open-ended questions, allowing the participants to provide more detailed evidence from their initial answers. The more the participants react and elaborate on the open-ended questions, the researcher accumulates more data that can help the validity of the research study.

Researchers use semistructured interviews to allow participants to open-up about sensitive and valuable issues, encouraging two-way communication. The advantage of semistructured interviews is that semistructured interviews are crucial for critical qualitative research as they enable researchers to interact with subjects from diverse life experiences and uncover valuable knowledge (Kakilla, 2021). A great semistructured interview can lure the participant's internal voice when the researcher and participant are on one accord participating during the interview. The semistructured interview produces a more significant opportunity to inspire the participant to share valuable information.

Embedded biases of the researcher and participants can disadvantage the researcher during semistructured interviews. Researcher bias is a strong bias that occurs through the interviewer's beliefs (Burn et al., 2020). Any bias can be a distraction and shine a negative light on the study. I conducted member checking to validate the study interview data to eliminate bias. Member checking is crucial for ensuring qualitative research's accuracy, credibility, and reliability, which involves obtaining participant feedback to confirm data (Sahakyan, 2023). I used member checking by allowing the participants to review the summary of the answers given during interviews and compare my interpretations to their own views. They can elaborate, modify, or approve the collected data. Member checking validates the study's data and assures that all data collected from interviews are aligned with the participant's views.

Data Organization Technique

I created a password-protected folder on my computer with all electronically collected data to be stored. I keep all hard copies of any organization data in a safe to

ensure all company documents are secured. Data protection is safeguarding important information from corruption, compromise, or loss. Microsoft Office will be the qualitative analysis tool to store data and keep the necessary information for the study. Data protection encompasses a wide range of areas, including the safety of physical storage devices and hardware, as well as the implementation of administrative access controls and the security of software applications (Pınarbaşı, 2022). Assuring that all collected data is protected is essential for the participants' protection.

A secure database was created to store all raw data and supporting documents for the participants' protection. I stored all electronic interview files and all raw materials to keep for 5 years. Yin (2018) stated that the participants' identities will remain anonymous. The participants will be labeled P1, P2, and P3 to protect their identity during the study. Protecting the participants' confidentiality rights is my obligation. To effectively analyze and make sense of the data collected, the researcher must assertively organize the information gleaned from documents made available by participants for review. This involves assembling and disassembling the data to derive meaningful insights (Krippendorff, 2019). The interviews were recorded using my MacBook and iPhone 15. They are both password-protected for security. All participant's data will be destroyed and erased 5 years after the study's publication.

Reflective journaling prevents researcher bias that can be apparent in the data collection process. Everything was noted before and after the interview to ensure that all data was captured accurately. Researcher bias can ruin the validation of the research study. A reflective journal is essential for documenting the researcher's reflections

(Frechette et al., 2020). Malone et al. (2014) and Stone et al. (2019) suggested that in qualitative research, researchers should remain cognizant of their biases and take steps to reduce bias throughout the research process by conducting careful assessments and disseminating data. Reflective journaling makes researchers aware of any possible bias that can affect the validity of the data collected before and after the interviews.

Data Analysis

In this pragmatic qualitative inquiry, I investigated the methods, expertise, direction, and operational plans that effective proprietors of small businesses utilize to prolong the existence of their enterprise beyond a 5-year period. Noble and Heale (2019) suggested that utilizing various data collection methods, such as interviews and observations, through methodological triangulation can enhance the credibility and validity of research findings. As the researcher, I used methodological triangulation and member checking to ensure the accessibility and alignment of raw data such as transcripts, recordings, journal notes, interview data, and yearly business salary documents. Coding in qualitative research involves organizing collected data thematically and providing a structured framework for interpreting data (Williams & Moser, 2019). The entrepreneurship theory is the approach the researchers use to enhance the understanding of the literature by codifying and analyzing the data to provide statistical relevance related to the findings.

The purpose of analyzing collected data was to increase research study accuracy.

Triangulation and member checking are used to claim that the research findings are credible and authentic, enhancing the study's rigor. I used methodological triangulation

to analyze the data collected from interviews, yearly salary documents, interview transcripts, and questionnaires. Using methodological triangulation provides valuable insight to ensure reliable and consistent data. Methodological triangulation is considered one of the most important strategies for validating qualitative research (Dzwigol, 2020). Noble and Heale (2019) described that research triangulation is a method used to enhance the credibility and validity of research. Triangulation ensures alignment of participant perspectives with interview data, validating all collected data and increasing study credibility.

I conducted interviews with each participant using six open-ended questions. I asked participants for their consent to record the interview before recording. To increase study credibility and confirmability, I used member checking. Member checking is used in qualitative research to ensure data collection accuracy. After each interview, I wrote up a summary, provided it to participants, and asked them to verify all was correct and respond to me. Researchers share their interpretations with participants to verify that their perspectives align with participants' experiences. This validates the interviews' accuracy and ensures the research's quality.

The recordings from the semistructured interviews were transcribed and transported to the NVivo 12 software. Dhakal (2022) defined NVivo as a software application designed to systematically and individually manage, analyze, and visualize qualitative data and documents for researchers. I used thematic analysis to analyze and code the data collected from the semistructured interviews.

Themes are discovered by the researcher when exploring what groups of words are related to the phenomenon of the study. Motivation, creativity, innovation, risk, leadership, strategies, courage, fortitude, endurance, and commitment are some themes the researcher identified in this study. According to Yin (2018), themes are recurring concepts or statements that unify a phenomenon. Rose and Johnson (2020) defined qualitative validity as ensuring accuracy through specific procedures, and qualitative reliability as consistency across projects and researchers. I analyzed the data using the content analysis method and distribute the information into codes, themes, and subthemes. According to Yin (2018), researchers can use coding to identify themes and patterns from their study's data. Thematic analysis is employed to improve the study's validity and reliability.

Reliability and Validity

According to qualitative researchers, credibility, transferability, dependability, confirmability, and authenticity are the five most relevant terms for determining the trustworthiness of qualitative research (Kyngas et al., 2020). The credibility principle in qualitative research refers to the degree to which the findings and conclusions of the research can be considered trustworthy. It pertains to the accuracy of the findings and the extent to which they represent the reality of the phenomenon under investigation (Nassaji, 2020). Ensuring the reliability of research findings is a fundamental aspect of qualitative research, and gathering input from participants, also known as respondent validation or member checking, is a widely used strategy to assess the accuracy of the

results (Slettebø, 2021). To validate the study and prevent any bias, member checking is used to ensure the validity and trustworthiness of the data.

Reliability

The researcher is the primary data collector for this qualitative research study and oversees providing a valid and reliable study. The dependability concept concerns a consistent and clear connection between the techniques, procedures, information, and outcomes (Baumgart et al., 2021). Following up with the participants to compare collected data with their views assures that the data collected is valid. To guarantee the reliability of qualitative research, it is imperative that member checking be utilized. Member checking involves actively seeking feedback from participants to validate collected data, ensuring the accuracy and trustworthiness of the research (McGrath et al., 2019). I increased the study's dependability by ensuring that all data and notes were appropriately validated, verifying the accurate information, and aligning with all research findings. Yin (2018) suggested using member checking, which involves allowing participants to review summary transcripts for accuracy before publication. To ensure the accuracy of the data collected from the interview aligns with their views, member checking is used by meeting with each participant. every participant was given an accurate view and permitted to suggest any inputs that improve the study's dependability and accuracy.

Validity

Triangulation using semistructured interviews, company documentation, and supporting information such as online marketing and social media tracking was used to

ensure the study's credibility. Nguyen et al. (2021) posited that qualitative researchers aim to establish the plausibility and accuracy of data and interpretations; this involves probing for credibility. Methodological triangulation can increase the validity of the data collected in the research study. Methodological triangulation can enrich research and is a procedure that enables the validation of data (Moon, 2019). To ensure the credibility of this research, I analyzed all available data from participant interviews, journal notes, business documents, and all other information that was collected.

Detailed and prolific information gives everyone the capability to understand the study findings. Nassaji (2020) defined transferability as the ability of researchers' interpretations or conclusions to be applied to comparable scenarios beyond the study's scope. Ensuring that the findings are detailed enough to be interpreted by all readers is essential to validate the study. I showed how the findings were collected by providing detailed terminology and explanations. Maintaining confirmability in a study requires a definite association or correlation between the data and the conclusions drawn from it (Stenfors et al., 2020). According to Yin (2018), an audit trail must be provided to enable others to evaluate the confirmability and transferability of the study. I increased the confirmability of the study by providing an audit trail and keeping records of information related to the study.

Triangulation helps the researcher increase the validity and trustworthiness of the study's collected data, developing an understanding of the phenomena. Data saturation transpires when no new data occurs, and information has become repetitive, enhancing the validity of the research. According to the consensus among researchers, data

saturation plays a critical role in determining the adequacy of sample size in a qualitative study (Aguboshim, 2021). It is considered that data saturation occurs when further interviews do not bring forth any new significant information (Fofana et al., 2020). It is considered that data saturation occurs when further interviews do not bring forth any new significant information (Fofana et al., 2020). To ensure the study's data saturation is met, various methods such as member checking, semistructured interviews, transcripts, and archive documents. Additionally, I used member checking until the saturation point was achieved. Data saturation enhances the credibility of the study.

Transition and Summary

In this study, my purpose was to identify the resources, knowledge, leadership, and business strategies that have helped small business owners extend the life of their organizations beyond 5 years. The study's purpose, the role of the researchers, participants, population, and sampling group involved in the research is provided in Section 2. Ethical considerations and methods for collecting, organizing, and analyzing interview data will also be included in Section 2.

The purpose of the study, presentation of the findings, application of professional practice, the implication of social change, recommendation of action, recommendation for further research, reflections, and the study's conclusion are presented in Section 3.

Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change Introduction

The purpose of this pragmatic qualitative inquiry was to explore the resources, knowledge, and business strategies that small business owners use to remain successful for more than 5 years. To better understand the approaches that small business owners use to extend their business life beyond 5 years, I employed a semistructured interview method. The study consisted of a sample of three small business owners located in the north Louisiana area who have been successful for more than 5 years. After obtaining approval from the IRB, a list of small businesses was obtained from the local chamber of commerce, and the potential participants were contacted to participate in the semistructured interviews. The semistructured interviews were conducted with each business owner to gather the necessary data for analysis. I conducted interviews, transcribed them, and carefully analyzed the data. After reaching data saturation, I used NVivo to analyze the data from the participants' transcripts, company website data, and interview notes. The analysis revealed four themes for strategies that small business owners use to extend their business life beyond 5 years: strategic planning, financial planning, adapting to change, and customer relationships.

Presentation of the Findings

The overarching research question was: What resources, knowledge, leadership, and business strategies do successful small business owners use to extend the organization's life beyond 5 years? There were three semistructured interviews conducted with six open-ended questions to small business owners who have had a successful

business for more than 5 years in the North Louisiana area. Four themes emerged from the semistructured interview responses of the participants.

The study was grounded on entrepreneurship theory, and the data analysis of both the company data and the participants' responses supported the findings of this study and this framework. The analysis showed that business success relies on effective financial planning, strategic planning, adapting to change, and customer relationships. Planning must be continuous and accompanied by action if it is to be successful (Ciloci, 2022). The study's findings provide a blueprint for future small business owners to follow, helping them extend their business life beyond 5 years.

Theme 1: Adapting to Change

The ability to adapt to change was the first theme gleaned from the data from the semistructured interviews, interview transcripts, company websites, interview notes, public documents, and company data. According to Diandra and Azmy (2020), a successful business is supported by the entrepreneurial ability to adapt to change and learn. Entrepreneurs' ability to have a plan to adapt to any change that may arise during the growing process can be an essential factor for success. The passion each participant had when speaking on this theme was intriguing. The responses of the participants and the data I collected from their websites and social media show that being able to adapt to change played a big part in the success of their business.

Each participant supported the emerging theme that adapting to change helps maintain the success of the business. P1 stated, "A business that remains stagnant will not be successful." P1also mentioned that when the government changes certain rules and

regulations, a business must update its policies and procedures to continue to excel as an organization. P1 emphasized the importance of coming up with strategies that comply with the new laws, while also ensuring that these strategies are morally supportive of the customers. P2 mentioned that to keep up with competitors, they need to serve creative products to customers. P2 also noted that they need to constantly change the variety of products to keep customers satisfied. According to P2, "Customers' interests change frequently, which makes innovation and creativity essential to maintain the success of the business."

P3 was consistent with the first two participants, noting that being able to adapt to change is one of the top reasons the business is still successful to this point. P3 stated, "Being a small business owner for over 15 years, learning to adapt to change has been essential to the business." P3 also stated that "When I provide clothing and accessories, I have to constantly research for the latest trends and constantly find appealing ways to reach customers over a wide age group."

According to each participant, the ability to adapt to change was crucial. This sentiment was supported by existing literature, with Schumpeter (1934) advocating for businesses to embrace disruptive changes and innovate in response. Sustainability is defined as the ability of the organization to withstand the changing environment and not gain more market share; this means that small business organizations have a significant advantage in adapting to changes in the market without much difficulty (Taiminen & Ranaweera, 2019). Adapting to change aligns with Schumpeter's view of entrepreneurship as the capacity to leverage change for innovative purposes.

Theme 2: Strategic Planning

The second theme was strategic planning. The formality of the strategic planning processes is important to enhancing small businesses' performance (George et al., 2019). Each participant shared the importance of strategic planning when sustaining a successful small business. The data received from interviews, company documents, and company websites align with existing literature that is needed to extend small business life beyond 5 years.

P1 shared that regularly meeting with community executives and politicians has played a significant role in their small business's success. By seeking advice on different plans, P1 has been able to prepare and make better informed decisions. Attending meetings with other business owners has also been beneficial for P1, as it has helped them learn various things about business and develop a strategic mindset. P1 believes that creating strategies is crucial for the business's growth and success, as it enables them to prepare for any potential obstacles that may arise during the business's lifespan.

P2 mentioned, "It is important to ensure that we always have popular flavors in stock to meet the demands of our customers." P2 also stated, "Our strategic planning has been helpful in times when we are too occupied to focus on various issues. It has served us well to rely on our original plan during such times." According to P2, taking the time to plan strategically is crucial for the growth of our business. Although it may require a lot of time and effort, it is worth it in the long run. P3 stated, "Planning has been a major part of why I can stay stress-free and grow my boutique to what it is today." P3 shared the following:

Some strategies I use to enhance productivity rate are monthly reviews of sales, quarterly trips to high volume warehouses to retrieve the best products possible, and conference calls with vendors to obtain the same. I have to strategically plan to make sure we maintain focus all while remaining motivated to reach the best possible outcomes of not only profit but amazing products that create satisfaction for our customers...we must retain business and keep our customers coming back for more merchandise and that's only done by having a plan."

Upon reviewing the interview questions and social media website data of each participant, it is evident that strategic planning plays a crucial role in the success of their businesses. Barbosa et al. (2020) indicated that the sustainable practice efforts identified in small businesses were characterized by informality and the need for more planning. George et al. (2019) argued that strategic planning can greatly enhance organizational effectiveness. Strategies available contribute to small businesses' success within their organization. Abou-Moghli (2018) argued that developing a business strategy to improve a firm's competitive advantage is crucial since it allows entrepreneurs to stay competitive in their chosen market. The participants agreed that planning helps ease the pressure on the owners while running the business, and it ensures that products and services are readily available to avoid any shortages.

Theme 3: Customer Relationship

The third theme is customer relationships. Maintaining close relationships with customers is essential for the continuous support and revenue of any business.

Establishing solid connections with one's clientele is another fundamental approach that

owners of small businesses may use to lengthen their organizations' lifespan. All participants agreed that staying available for customers and always listening to their suggestions is crucial. P1 stated, "They have received several ideas from customers that have helped their company over the years...The best feedback and critiques come from the customers who use the service the most." P1 maintains many customer relationships because they want to know how they can improve their company.

P2 stated the following.

They want customers to feel like a part of the family when they come into their small business, so they treat them as well as possible. They have supported the community with donations and fundraisers because they believe that supporting their customers will encourage them to continue supporting their business.

Supporting other businesses and community functions has helped build many strong customer relationships. P2 mentioned, "Customer relationships can have a domino effect, as customers tend to share their positive experiences with their friends and family, which helps in building customer support."

P3 stated

I am constantly building rapport with my customers daily and always being committed to learning more and researching how we can better serve our customers. I have gained so many lifetime friends that I have built relationships with because of my ability to keep them involved with the products and make them feel a part of the brand.

P3 also stated, "I use my customers as my fashion models for my merchandise, and that makes them feel special because I let them know that they are the reason for my success". Establishing strong relationships with customers and clients is a key strategy for promoting the success of small businesses. Customers have a competitive strength through their bargaining power in order to fulfill their needs and desires (Herman et al., 2020). Small business entrepreneurs should prioritize providing their clients with top-notch service and being readily available to address any concerns or issues. By prioritizing customer relationships, small business owners can create a solid foundation for their companies, making it more challenging for competitors to poach their clients and ideas. Participants emphasized the impact of making customers feel valued and part of the business on the overall success of the company.

Theme 4: Financial Planning

During the interviews, the participants emphasized the significance of financial management as a crucial strategy for small businesses to succeed beyond 5 years.

Financial planning was the fourth theme that emerged during the interviews. The positive correlation between financial performance and managerial capabilities is moderated by the implementation of a sustainability strategy (Ukko et al., 2019). Each participant was consistent in highlighting how finances play a vital role in owning and running a successful small business. P1 mentioned, "I rely on three CPAs to assist me in creating my budget for the year, monitoring my accounts weekly, and reviewing my expenses and reports to ensure that I am spending my money wisely." P1 emphasized keeping a close eye on business finances is crucial because any unaccounted funds could potentially

cause the business to fail. P1 stated, "I have a different CPA for each category of my finances, allowing for focused attention on each area, which helps me manage my business, ensuring financial stability and success."

P2 emphasized the significance of cutting costs with products and avoiding unnecessary expenses. They suggested purchasing bulk packages to save costs and making sure to turn off the air conditioning when it is not needed to save energy. P2 also recommended limiting overtime when possible to balance the finances. P2 highlighted that all of these factors contribute to the overall cost of running a business, and it is crucial to maintain functional business operations without incurring increased expenditures. P2 concluded that focusing on finance is perhaps the most important strategy that every small business must prioritize.

P3 had a similar financial strategy as P1. P3 stated

I had to create a team of trusted individuals with whom I could always consult with and be held accountable in all areas of my finances. I have a great financial advisor and CPA who ensure that I am handling my managerial role with finances as well as my personal. During the life of my business, I had to learn how to best purchase my items whether in bulk or some things as pre-orders and so on because this greatly affects finances in my business. It is important to hold meetings with those who take managerial roles and make clear what is required with short-term and long-term goals. I must ensure that all members of my team are in accord and understand that all are held accountable for registering funds, accepting payments, and keeping our profit and loss margin closely monitored.

Based on the interview responses of each participant, it is clear that finances play a crucial role in the success of small businesses. Rachapaettayakom et al. (2020) stated that small business entrepreneurs with a relatively lower level of financial knowledge are more inclined to seek out knowledge to ensure business survival, as they are usually responsible for all financial tasks associated with their business. By prioritizing financial strategies, small businesses can prevent issues that may hinder their growth and ensure their longevity beyond the first five years. Financial management practices are needed for the success of small firms and have practical implications for owners, managers, and regulators (Zada et al., 2019). The owners of small businesses should establish a financial plan and attempt to adhere to it as closely as they can. The data collected emphasizes the importance of implementing effective financial strategies to secure the success of small businesses.

Findings Related to Framework

The conceptual framework for this study is entrepreneurship theory, which provides strategies to extend the lifespan of small businesses beyond 5 years. Entrepreneurship involves using innovation to succeed, with both benefits and dangers associated with ventures. According to Stoilov et al. (2020), entrepreneurship involves managing and utilizing resources to establish an innovative economic entity, generating profits, and expanding despite risk and uncertainty. This study focused on the strategies used by small business owners to extend the lifespan of their organizations beyond 5 years.

The findings of my study align with entrepreneurship theory. Entrepreneurship theory connects entrepreneurship with establishing businesses, innovation, and continual development (Mehmood et al., 2019). The findings are consistent with Lévesque and Stephan (2020), who stated that success depends on skills such as opportunity identification, risk management, and adaptability. The four themes align with Diandra and Azmy (2020), who stated that a successful business is supported by an entrepreneurial ability to adapt to change and learn. Ciloci (2022) suggested that planning must be continuous and accompanied by action to be successful, which aligns with the themes. Consistent with the study themes, Putra (2019) suggested that entrepreneurs must comprehend the significance of applying accounting knowledge to manage the finances of small businesses. Exposure to entrepreneurial models and education programs can help small business owners improve their knowledge, enhancing their chances of success beyond 5 years.

Applications to Professional Practice

The study's findings are relevant for small business owners who are starting a new venture and need strategies to ensure their business's success beyond the initial 5 years. According to Hameed and Irfan (2019), entrepreneurship education should be designed for students to understand the more important attributes and critical knowledge areas. It is widely agreed that possessing knowledge is beneficial for creating opportunities and can have a beneficial impact on the success of new ventures (Lattacher et al., 2021). Colleges and universities could offer valuable training for students and aspiring entrepreneurs to develop the skills necessary to succeed as small business

owners. Sharing this knowledge through literature can also inspire current business owners to incorporate these strategies into conferences or meetings, further disseminating helpful information to others in the small business community. In addition to traditional business training, entrepreneurship education needs to incorporate unconventional instruction on leadership, negotiation abilities, originality, ingenuity, and the creation of new products (Galvao et al., 2018). These findings could aid small business owners in reducing the failure rate of their business by implementing strategies that have helped other small businesses sustain themselves.

Implications for Social Change

The study findings suggest that small business owners can benefit from implementing strategic planning, hiring skilled professionals to manage finances, building strong relationships with customers, and adapting to changes in the economy. The strategies outlined in the research study and the data gathered from participants can contribute to positive social change. New small business owners could gain a better understanding of managing and sustaining a small business, which can reduce failure rates and promote positive social change. The economy benefits when small business entrepreneurs succeed, as they can create jobs within the community. When small businesses thrive, the economy thrives. The strategies discovered in the study can help future small business owners improve business success and community revenue, leading to positive social change. This study could also lead to an improvement in the local economy. The study has the potential to bring about positive social change, leading to long-term job security, community employment opportunities, and increased revenue for

the local community. According to Merrick and Howard (2020), the United States is a major producer of small businesses, which are often essential to local communities. Small business owners could leverage the findings from this study to implement the necessary strategies for expanding their businesses beyond 5 years.

Recommendations for Action

The recommendation of action is to be flexible, consistently take financial courses, and continuously build relationships. My first recommendation of action for small businesses is to plan but be flexible. By learning how to implement change within the organization, small businesses can stay competitive in the market. Small businesses must have the ability to make rapid changes when necessary to enhance productivity and achieve success. Small business owners can increase their chances of success by providing change along with additional resources and tools to overcome the uncertainties and challenges involved in small business ownership.

My second recommendation of action for small businesses is to consistently take finance courses. Small business owners must keep their finances on track if they want to enhance the company's growth. Monitoring financial reports closely is highly recommended, as without the necessary financial resources, the business could fail. To prevent failure and ensure long-term success, a financial plan should always be the focal point of any business.

The third recommendation for small businesses is to focus on building relationships. Developing strong relationships can bring in necessary resources that contribute to the success of the business. These connections can also provide crucial

support during challenging times, offering trust and dependability when needed. Establishing solid connections with customers is a fundamental strategy that small business owners can use to extend the lifespan of their organizations. The three recommendations taking is to assist new small businesses in achieving long-term success beyond the initial 5 years. Abou-Moghli (2018) argued that developing a business strategy to improve a firm's competitive advantage is crucial since it allows entrepreneurs to stay competitive in their chosen market. Strategies available contribute to small businesses' success within their organization.

The findings and recommendations from my study could help small business owners implement strategies to extend the success of their businesses beyond 5 years. I plan to disseminate and provide training to new small business owners, helping them develop strategic plans for success in their ventures. Additionally, I plan to speak at academic events and conferences to share my findings and publish my study in peer-reviewed journals to support future researchers.

Recommendations for Further Research

Ensuring the prevention of bias and prejudice was a limitation of this study.

Additionally, it was important to verify the sincerity of responses provided by the participants during the semistructured interviews. My future recommendations will be to conduct the research with more participants and a different research design. Research with another design and more participants can give a different outlook on small business strategies. In the future, it is recommended that research should focus on small businesses in other parts of Louisiana or the United States, as well as larger businesses. It is also

suggested that future research should consider studying small business owners of different age groups to gain different perspectives on small business success.

Furthermore, researching the future of a specific type of small business could help businesses in that category with specific strategies they may need.

Reflections

I have thoroughly enjoyed the process of researching strategies used by small business owners to extend the life of their businesses beyond 5 years. This topic is of great interest to me and will be extremely useful when I attempt to start a new business venture in the future. It was very rewarding to hear the owners share their experiences and the different ways they created success. Initially, I was unsure of what it takes to become successful long-term in the small business world. I had previously attempted to start a small business that failed, so learning about the various strategies and the work required to maintain a business was highly informative. After conducting interviews with business owners, I have realized that I have a lot of work ahead of me if I want my small business to exceed more than 5 years. During this DBA process, I have gained valuable insights into the factors that enable a small business to thrive and grow.

Before this study, my idea of being a small business owner was not as detailed as needed. During this journey, I have learned that to run a business, there must be very strategic plans in place before starting. The DBA process and this study have given me a new mindset for when I decide to start a new small business. I did not realize the effort it took to be successful in a business and have long-term success. If I knew what I have learned along this journey, I believe my business would still be thriving today. My

understanding was that if you are dedicated and good at what you do, success will be automatic. I have learned valuable life lessons throughout this DBA process that I will continue to implement in my life. Time is incredibly valuable, and if not used correctly, it can quickly lead to failure. I had to learn to follow instructions to get through this DBA program. I now understand that planning is not only necessary for business success but also essential for achieving my personal goals in life.

Conclusion

This research investigated the techniques used by small business owners to sustain their businesses beyond 5 years. Through extensive research on this topic, I have gained a better understanding of how small businesses function. The failure of small businesses is a major concern as it has a significant impact on the economy. The reasons behind small business failures include inadequate resources, lack of knowledge, poor strategic planning, financial instability, and weak customer relationships. The study involved interviewing three small business owners in North Louisiana who have managed to run successful businesses for at least 5 years. I conducted these interviews in person, at their respective businesses, and recorded them using an iPhone 15 Pro Max and an iPad Pro. I asked each of the three business owners six open-ended questions. The data was gathered from interview transcripts, company websites, interview notes, and public documents. The research revealed four key themes which were strategic planning, adaptability to change, financial planning, and customer relationships. The findings of this study can be used to assist future small business owners in developing the necessary strategies to prolong the life of their businesses beyond 5 years.

References

- Abou-Moghli, A. A. (2018). The relationship between entrepreneurship and strategic management in small scale businesses: An empirical assessment of developing competitiveness. *International Journal of Business and Social Science*, 9(9), 51–57. https://doi.org/10.30845/ijbss.v9n9p5
- Adeoye-Olatunde, O. A., & Olenik, N. L. (2021). Research and scholarly methods: Semi-structured interviews. *Journal of the American College of Clinical*Pharmacy, 4(10), 1358–1367. https://doi.org/10.1002/jac5.1441
- Adobor, H. (2020). Entrepreneurial failure in agribusiness: Evidence from an emerging economy. *Journal of Small Business and Enterprise Development*, 27(2), 237–258. https://doi.org/10.1108/JSBED-04-2019-0131
- Aguboshim, F. C. (2021). Adequacy of sample size in a qualitative case study and the dilemma of data saturation: A narrative review. *World Journal of Advanced Research and Reviews*, 10(3), 180–187.

 https://doi.org/10.30574/wjarr.2021.10.3.0277
- Akomea, S. Y., Agyapong, A., Ampah, G., & Osei, H. V. (2022). Entrepreneurial orientation, sustainability practices and performance of small and medium enterprises: Evidence from an emerging economy. *International Journal of Productivity and Performance Management*, 72(9), 2629–2653. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJPPM-06-2021-0325
- Alsaaty, F. M., & Makhlouf, H. H. (2020). The rise and fall of small business enterprises. *Open Journal of Business and Management*, 8(4), 1908–1916.

https://doi.org/10.4236/ojbm.2020.84116

- Amankwah-Amoah, J., Boso, N., & Antwi-Agyei, I. (2018). The effects of business failure experience on successive entrepreneurial engagements: An evolutionary phase model. *Group & Organization Management, 43*(4), 648–682. https://doi.org/10.1177/1059601116643447
- Andrade, C. (2021). The inconvenient truth about convenience and purposive samples. *Indian Journal of Psychological Medicine*, 43(1), 86–88. https://doi.org/10.1177/0253717620977000
- Aras, M. (2021). Leadership and leadership qualities in chaos management. *Yönetim-*Strateji-Organizasyon: Teoride ve Uygulamada, Ankara: Gazi Kitabevi, 35–49.
- Aricioglu, M. A., & Berk, O. N. (2022). A comparative proposal on learning the chaos to understand the environment. *Chaos Theory and Applications*, 4(1), 19–25. https://doi.org/10.51537/chaos.998110
- Aspers, P., & Corte, U. (2019). What is qualitative in qualitative research. *Qualitative Sociology*, 42, 139–160. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11133-019-9413-7
- Badrianto, Y., & Ekhsan, M. (2020). Effect of work environment and job satisfaction on employee performance in pt. Nesinak industries. *Journal of Business*, *Management, & Accounting*, 2(1), 85–91. https://e-journal.stiekusumanegara.ac.id/index.php/jobma/article/view/85
- Baker, T., & Welter, F. (2020). *Contextualizing entrepreneurship theory*. Routledge. http://dx.doi.org/10.4324/9781351110631
- Balasubramanian, S., Wales, W. J., White, J. V., & Gupta, V. K. (2020). Entrepreneurial

- orientation. Oxford University Press. https://doi.org/10.1093/obo/9780199846740-0193
- Barber, Y., Sicre, M., & Johnson, M. (2022). Establishing sustainability in small business. *Strategic Finance*, 103(10), 50–55 https://www.proquest.com/scholarly-journals/establishing-sustainability-small-business/docview/2640798575/se-2
- Barbosa, M., Castañeda-Ayarza, J. A., & Ferreira, D. H. L. (2020). Sustainable management, balanced scorecard, and small business: A systematic review and state of the art. *Independent Journal of Management & Production*, 11(1), 156–179. https://doi.org/10.14807/ijmp.v11i1.1002
- Bartlett, R. P., III., & Morse, A. (2020). Small business survival capabilities and policy effectiveness: Evidence from Oakland. *National Bureau of Economic Research*, 1–49 http://dx.doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.3660991
- Baumgart, A., Craig, J. C., & Tong, A. (2021). Qualitative research in CKD: How to appraise and interpret the evidence. *American Journal of Kidney Diseases*, 77(4), 538–541. https://doi.org/10.1053/j.ajkd.2020.12.011
- Bayot, M. L., Brannan, G. D., Brannan, J. M., & Tenny, S. (2023). Human subjects research design. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK537270/
- Block, J. H., Fisch, C., & Hirschmann, M. (2022). The determinants of bootstrap financing in crises: Evidence from entrepreneurial ventures in the COVID-19 pandemic. *Small Business Economics*, 58(2), 867–885.

 https://doi.org/10.1007/s11187-020-00445-6
- Boldureanu, G., Ionescu, A. M., Bercu, A. M., Bedrule-Grigoruță, M. V., & Boldureanu,

- D. (2020). Entrepreneurship education through successful entrepreneurial models in higher education institutions. *Sustainability*, *12*(3), 1203–1267. https://doi.org/10.3390/su12031267
- Bonsu, B., & Kuofie, M. (2019). Small business survival. *Journal of Marketing and Management*, 10(1), 51–63. https://gsmi-ijgb.com/wp-content/uploads/JMM-V10-N1-P03-Samuel-Bonsu-Business-Survival.pdf
- Borchert, P., Coussement, K., De Caigny, A., & De Weerdt, J. (2023). Extending business failure prediction models with textual website content using deep learning. *European Journal of Operational Research*, 306(1), 348–357. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejor.2022.06.060
- Boso, N., Adeleye, I., Donbesuur, F., & Gyensare, M. (2019). Do entrepreneurs always benefit from business failure experience? *Journal of Business Research*, 98, 370–379. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2018.01.063
- Brem, A., Viardot, E., & Nylund, P. A. (2021). Implications of the coronavirus (COVID-19) outbreak for innovation: Which technologies will improve our lives? *Technological forecasting and social change*, *163*, 2–7.

 https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0040162520312774
- Brown, C., & Thornton, M. (2013). How entrepreneurship theory created economics. *Quarterly Journal of Austrian Economics*, 16(4), 401–419. https://citeseerx.ist.psu.edu
- Buheji, M., & Ahmed, D. (2020). Foresight of Coronavirus (COVID-19) opportunities for a better world. *American Journal of Economics*, 10(2), 97–108.

https://doi:/10.5923/j.economics.20201002.05

- Burn, H., Puri, L., Roshan, A., Singh, S. K., & Burton, M. J. (2020). Primary eye care in eastern Nepal. *Ophthalmic Epidemiology*, 27(3), 165–176.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/09286586.2019.1702217
- Campbell, S., Greenwood, M., Prior, S., Shearer, T., Walkem, K., Young, S., Bywaters, D., & Walker, K. (2020). Purposive sampling: Complex or simple? Research case examples. *Journal of Research in Nursing: JRN*, 25(8), 652–661. https://doi.org/10.1177/1744987120927206
- Candela, A. G. (2019). Exploring the function of member checking. *The Qualitative Report*, 24(3), 619-628. https://doi.org/10.46743/2160-3715/2019.3726
- Carmichael, S. P., & Kline, D. M. (2023). Categories of Evidence and Methods in Surgical Decision-Making. *Surgical Clinics*, 103(2), 233–245. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.suc.2022.11.001
- Carter, A. B. (2019). Considerations for genomic data privacy and security when working in the cloud. *The Journal of Molecular Diagnostics*, 21(4), 542–552. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jmoldx.2018.07.009
- Chadwick, I. C., & Raver, J. L. (2020). Psychological resilience and its downstream effects for business survival in nascent entrepreneurship. *Entrepreneurship Theory and Practice*, 44(2), 233–255. https://doi.org/10.1177/1042258718801597
- Cheah, S. L., Yoneyama, S., & Ho, Y. (2019). Performance management of public—private collaboration in innovation. *Creativity & Innovation Management*, 28(4), 563–574. https://doi.org/10.1111/caim.12343

- Cho, Y. H., & Lee, J. H. (2018). Entrepreneurial orientation, entrepreneurial éducation, and performance. *Asia Pacific Journal of Innovation and Entrepreneurship*, 12(2), 124-134. https://doi.org/10.1108/APJIE-05-2018-0028
- Ciloci, R. (2022). The causes of small businesses failure. *Journal of Social Sciences*, 2(5), 131–142. https://doi.org/10.52326/jss.utm.2022.5(2).12
- Coker, D. C. (2022). A thematic analysis of the structure of delimitations in the dissertation. *International Journal of Doctoral Studies*, *17*, 141–159. https://doi.org/10.28945/4939
- Covin, J. G., Rigtering, J. C., Hughes, M., Kraus, S., Cheng, C. F., & Bouncken, R. B. (2020). Individual and team entrepreneurial orientation: Scale development and configurations for success. *Journal of Business Research*, 112, 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2020.02.023
- Damschroder, L. J. (2020). Clarity out of chaos: use of theory in implementation research. *Psychiatry Research*, 283, 2–6. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psychres.2019.06.036
- Dawadi, S., Shrestha, S., & Giri, R. A. (2021). Mixed-methods research: A discussion on its types, challenges, and criticisms. *Journal of Practical Studies in Education*, 2(2), 25–36 https://doi.org/10.46809/jpse.v2i2.20
- DeJonckheere, M., & Vaughn, L. M. (2019). Semistructured interviewing in primary care research: A balance of relationship and rigor. *Family Medicine and Community Health*, 7(2), 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1136%2Ffmch-2018-000057
- Deogharia, J. (2020). Problems encountered by women entrepreneurs in Assam: A study

- among the women entrepreneurs with special reference to Sivasagar District of Assam. *International Journal of Management*, 11(7), 1598–1601. https://doi.org/10.34218/IJM.11.7.2020.143
- Deshwal, V., & Ali, A. (2020). A systematic review of various leadership theories. *Shanlax International Journal of Commerce*, 8(1), 38–43. https://doi.org/10.34293/commerce.v8i1.916
- Dhakal, K. (2022). NVivo. *Journal of the Medical Library Association*, 110(2), 270–272. https://doi.org/10.5195/jmla.2022.1271
- Diamandis, P. H., & Kotler, S. (2020). The future is faster than you think: How converging technologies are transforming business, industries, and our lives.

 Simon & Schuster. https://doi.org/10.1080/15228053.2022.2101088
- Diandra, D., & Azmy, A. (2020). Understanding definition of entrepreneurship. *International Journal of Management, Accounting and Economics*, 7(5), 235–241. http://www.ijmae.com/
- Dzwigol, H. (2020). Methodological and empirical platform of triangulation in strategic management. *Academy of Strategic Management Journal*, 19(4), 1–8.

 https://www.proquest.com/scholarly-journals/methodological-empirical-platform-triangulation/docview/2435127174/se-2
- Fetterman, D. M. (2019). Ethnography: Step-by-step. Sage publications.
- Fofana, F., Bazeley, P., & Regnault, A. (2020). Applying a mixed methods design to test saturation for qualitative data in health outcomes research. *PloS One*, *15*(6), 2–11. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0234898

- Fox, J., Pittaway, L., & Uzuegbunam, I. (2018). Simulations in entrepreneurship education: Serious games and learning through play. *Entrepreneurship Education* and Pedagogy, 1(1), 61–89 https://doi.org/10.1177/2515127417737285
- Frechette, J., Bitzas, V., Aubry, M., Kilpatrick, K., & Lavoie-Tremblay, M. (2020).

 Capturing lived experience: Methodological considerations for interpretive phenomenological inquiry. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 19, 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1177/1609406920907254
- Fusch, P. I., & Ness, L. R. (2015). Are we there yet? Data saturation in qualitative research. *The Qualitative Report* 20(1), 1408–1416

 http://dx.doi.org/10.46743/2160-3715/2015.2281
- Galvao, A., Ferreira, J., & Marques, C. (2018). Entrepreneurship education and training as facilitators of regional development. *Journal of Small Business and Enterprise Development*, 25(1), 17–40. https://doi.org/10.1108/jsbed-05-2017-0178
- Gatti, L., Ulrich, M., & Seele, P. (2019). Education for sustainable development through business simulation games: An exploratory study of sustainability gamification and its effects on students' learning outcomes. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 207, 667–678. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2018.09.130
- George, B., Walker, R. M., & Monster, J. (2019). Does strategic planning improve organizational performance? A meta-analysis. *Public Administration**Review, 79(6), 810–819. https://doi.org/10.1111/puar.13104
- Ghosh, S. (2021). Entrepreneurship Development.
- Goldkuhl, G. (2019). The generation of qualitative data in information systems research:

- the diversity of empirical research methods. *Communications of the Association* for Information Systems, 44, 572–599. https://doi.org/10.17705/1CAIS.04428
- Guest, G., Namey, E., & Chen, M. (2020). A simple method to assess and report thematic saturation in qualitative research. *PloS One*, *15*(5), 1–17. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0232076
- Hameed, H. (2020). Quantitative and qualitative research methods: Considerations and issues in qualitative research. *The Maldives National Journal of Research*, 8(10), 8–17. http://saruna.mnu.edu.mv/jspui/handle/123456789/8523
- Hameed, I., & Irfan, Z. (2019). Entrepreneurship education: a review of challenges, characteristics, and opportunities. *Entrepreneurship Education*, 2, 135–148. https://doi.org/10.1007/s41959-019-00018-z
- Hanaysha, J. R., Al-Shaikh, M. E., Joghee, S., & Alzoubi, H. M. (2022). Impact of innovation capabilities on business sustainability in small and medium enterprises. *FIIB Business Review*, 11(1), 67–78.
 https://doi.org/10.1177/231971452110422
- Hanell, S. M., Rovira Nordman, E., Tolstoy, D., & Özbek, N. (2020). "It's a new game out there": E-commerce in internationalizing retail SMEs. *International Marketing Review*, *37*(3), 515–531. https://doi.org/10.1108/IMR-03-2018-0107
- Hang, M., Geyer-Klingeberg, J., & Rathgeber, A. W. (2019). It is merely a matter of time: A meta-analysis of the causality between environmental performance and financial performance. *Business Strategy and the Environment*, 28(2), 257–273. https://doi.org/10.1002/bse.2215

- Harel, R., Schwartz, D., & Kaufmann, D. (2021). The relationship between innovation promotion processes and small business success: The role of managers' dominance. *Review of Managerial Science*, 15, 1937–1960.
 https://doi.org/10.1007/s11846-020-00409-w
- Havierniková, K., & Kordoš, M. (2019). Selected risks perceived by SMEs related to sustainable entrepreneurship in case of engagement into cluster cooperation. *Entrepreneurship and Sustainability Issues*, *6*(4), 1680–1693. http://doi.org/10.9770/jesi.2019.6.4(9)
- Hennink, M. M., Kaiser, B. N., & Weber, M. B. (2019). What influences saturation?

 Estimating sample sizes in focus group research. *Qualitative Health Research*,

 29(10), 1483–1496. https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732318821692
- Herman, L. E., Sulhaini, S., & Farida, N. (2021). Electronic customer relationship management and company performance: Exploring the product innovativeness development. *Journal of Relationship Marketing*, 20(1), 1-19. https://doi.org/10.1080/15332667.2019.1688600
- Hidalgo, C. A. (2021). Economic complexity theory and applications. *Nature Reviews Physics*, *3*(2), 92–113. https://doi.org/10.1038/s42254-020-00275-1
- Hodder, A. (2020). New technology, work and employment in the era of COVID-19: reflecting on legacies of research. *New Technology, Work, and Employment*, 35(3), 262–275. https://doi.org/10.1111/ntwe.12173
- Holland, H. M., & Linvill, J. S. (2019). Important considerations for protecting human research participants. *Dimensions of Discovery*.

- https://www.purdue.edu/research/dimensions/important-considerations-for-protecting- human-research-participants/
- Hristov, I., & Chirico, A. (2019). The role of sustainability key performance indicators (KPIs) in implementing sustainable strategies. *Sustainability*, 11(20), 5631–5742. https://doi.org/10.3390/su11205742
- Hunziker, S., Blankenagel, M., Hunziker, S., & Blankenagel, M. (2021). Multiple case research design. Research Design in Business and Management: A Practical Guide for Students and Researchers, 171–186. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-658-34357-6_9
- Husband, G. (2020). Ethical data collection and recognizing the impact of semistructured interviews on research respondents. *Education Sciences*, 10(8), 206–217. https://doi.org/10.3390/educsci10080206
- Ijieh, S. O. (2020). Entrepreneurship, skill acquisition, and economic growth. *Unizik Journal of Arts and Humanities*, 21(3), 102–116. https://doi.org/10.4314/ujah.v21i3.6
- Ismail, M. H., Khater, M., & Zaki, M. (2017). Digital business transformation and strategy: What do we know so far. *Cambridge Service Alliance*, 10(1), 1–35.

 https://cambridgeservicealliance.eng.cam.ac.uk/system/files/documents/2017Nov

 Paper_Mariam.pdf
- Jackson, G. R. (2020). Leadership strategies for success of small to medium urban enterprises (Doctoral dissertation, Walden University).

 https://www.proquest.com/openview/c2af4259020945def84720996278e26d/1?pq

-origsite=gscholar&cbl=44156

- Jacobs, A. Z., & Wallach, H. (2021). Measurement and fairness. In *Proceedings of the* 2021 ACM conference on fairness, accountability, and transparency (pp. 375–385). https://doi.org/10.1145/3442188.3445901
- Jain, G., Paul, J., & Shrivastava, A. (2021). Hyper-personalization, co-creation, digital clienteling, and transformation. *Journal of Business Research*, 124, 12–23. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2020.11.034
- Jin, C., Wu, B., & Hu, Y. (2021). Family business internationalization in paradox: effects of socioemotional wealth and entrepreneurial spirit. Frontiers in Psychology, 12, 1–16. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2021.667615
- Johnson, J. L., Adkins, D., & Chauvin, S. (2020). A review of the quality indicators of rigor in qualitative research. *American Journal of Pharmaceutical Education*, 84(1), 138–146. https://doi.org/10.5688/ajpe7120
- Kakilla, C. (2021). Strengths and weaknesses of semi-structured Interviews in Qualitative research: A critical essay, 1–4. https://doi.org/10.20944/preprints202106.0491.v1
- Karagiozis, N. (2018). Complexities of the researcher's role. The International Journal of Interdisciplinary Educational Studies, 13(1), 19–31.
 https://doi.org/10.18848/2327-011X/CGP/v13i01/19-31
- Keating, C. B., & Katina, P. F. (2019). Complex system governance: Concept, utility, and challenges. *Systems Research and Behavioral Science*, *36*(5), 687–705. https://doi.org/10.1002/sres.2621

- Kelly, L. M., & Cordeiro, M. (2020). Three principles of pragmatism for research on organizational processes. *Methodological innovations*, 13(2), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1177/2059799120937242
- Kim, K. H. (2019). Demystifying creativity: What creativity isn't and is? *Roeper Review*, 41(2), 119–128. https://doi.org/10.1080/02783193.2019.1585397
- Klimas, P., Czakon, W., Kraus, S., Kailer, N., & Maalaoui, A. (2021). Entrepreneurial failure: A synthesis and conceptual framework of its effects. *European Management Review*, 18(1), 167–182. https://doi.org/10.1111/emre.12426
- Krause, J. (2021). The ethics of ethnographic methods in conflict zones. *Journal of peace* research, 58(3), 329–341. https://doi.org/10.1177/0022343320971021
- Krippendorff, K. (2019). Content analysis: An introduction to its methodology (4th ed.). SAGE Publications.
- Kucharcíkova, A., Mičiak, M., Bartošová, A., Budzeľová, M., Bugajová, S., Maslíková,
 A., & Pisoňová, S. (2021). Human capital management and industry 4.0. *In SHS*Web of Conferences, 90, 1–10 https://doi.org/10.1051/shsconf/20219001010
- Kumar, B., & Sharma, A. (2021). Managing the supply chain during disruptions:
 Developing a framework for decision-making. *Industrial Marketing* Management, 97, 159–172. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indmarman.2021.07.007
- Kyngas, H., Kääriäinen, M., & Elo, S. (2020). The trustworthiness of content analysis. *The application of content analysis in nursing science research*, 41–48. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-30199-6_5
- Lartey, F. M. (2020). Chaos, complexity, and contingency theories: a comparative

- analysis and application to the 21st century organization. *Journal of Business Administration Research*, 9(1), 44–51. https://doi.org/10.5430/jbar.v9n1p44
- Lattacher, W., Gregori, P., Holzmann, P., & Schwarz, E. J. (2021). Knowledge spillover in entrepreneurial emergence: A learning perspective. *Technological Forecasting* and Social Change, 166, 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.techfore.2021.120660
- Lattacher, W., & Wdowiak, M. A. (2020). Entrepreneurial learning from failure. A systematic review. *International Journal of Entrepreneurial Behavior & Research*, 26(5), 1093–1131. https://www.emerald.com/insight/1355-2554.htm
- Lévesque, M., & Stephan, U. (2020). It's time we talk about time in entrepreneurship.

 *Entrepreneurship Theory & Practice, 44(2), 163–184.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/1042258719839711
- Li, F. (2020). Leading digital transformation: three emerging approaches for managing the transition. *International Journal of Operations & Production*Management, 40(6), 809–817. https://openaccess.city.ac.uk/id/eprint/24248/1/
- Lim, W. M., Kumar, S., & Ali, F. (2022). Advancing knowledge through literature reviews: 'what', 'why', and 'how to contribute'. *The Service Industries Journal*, 42(7–8), 481–513. https://doi.org/10.1080/02642069.2022.2047941
- López, A., Neves, P., & González-Morales, M. G. (2022). What does it take to start a business? Constraint appraisal as a predictor of taking entrepreneurial action among nascent entrepreneurs. *Applied Psychology*, 71(4), 1275–1303. https://doi.org/10.1111/apps.12354
- Magaldi, D., & Berler, M. (2020). Semi-structured interviews. Encyclopedia of

personality and individual differences, 4825–4830.

https://link.springer.com/referenceworkentry/10.1007/978-3-319-24612-3_857#citeas

- Malone, H., Nicholl, H., & Tracey, C. (2014). Awareness and minimization of systematic bias in research. *British Journal of Nursing*, 23(5), 279–282. https://doi.org/10.12968/bjon.2014.23.5.279
- Mamun, A. A. (2018). Diffusion of innovation among Malaysian manufacturing SMEs. *European Journal of Innovation Management*, 21(1), 113–141. https://doi.org/10.1108/EJIM-02-2017-0017
- Martinez, M. G., Zouaghi, F., Marco, T. G., & Robinson, C. (2019). What drives business failure? Exploring the role of internal and external knowledge capabilities during the global financial crisis. *Journal of Business Research*, 98, 441–449. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2018.07.032
- Martin-Rios, C., & Ciobanu, T. (2019). Hospitality innovation strategies: An analysis of success factors and challenges. *Tourism Management*, 70, 218–229.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tourman.2018.08.018
- McGrath, C., Palmgren, P. J., & Liljedahl, M. (2019). Twelve tips for conducting qualitative research interviews. *Medical Teacher*, 41(9), 1002–1006. https://doi.org/10.1080/0142159X.2018.1497149
- McKim, C. (2023). Meaningful member-checking: A structured approach to member-checking. *American Journal of Qualitative Research*, 7(2), 41–52. https://doi.org/10.29333/ajqr/12973

- Mehmood, T., Alzoubi, H. M., & Ahmed, G. (2019). Schumpeterian entrepreneurship theory: Evolution and relevance. *Academy of Entrepreneurship Journal*, 25(4), 1–10. https://www.abacademies.org/articles/Schumpeterian-entrepreneurship-theory-evolution-and-relevance-1528-2686-25-4-301.pdf
- Merrick, C., & Howard, S. (2020). The importance of small business and entrepreneurship as strategies to alleviate poverty. *Social Innovations Journal*, 2(2), 1–4. https://socialinnovationsjournal.com/index.php/sij/article/view/348
- Moon, M. D. (2019). Triangulation: A method to increase validity, reliability, and legitimation in clinical research. *Journal of Emergency Nursing*, 45(1), 103–105. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jen.2018.11.004
- Moser, A., & Korstjens, I. (2017). Series: Practical guidance to qualitative research. Part 3: Sampling, data collection, and analysis. *European Journal of General Practice*, 24(1), 9–18. https://doi.org/10.1080/13814788.2017.1375091
- Mozumdar, L., Hagelaar, G., Gerben van der Velde, G., & Omta, S. W. F. (2020).

 Determinants of the business performance of women entrepreneurs in the developing world context. J, *Multidisciplinaire Scientific Journal*, *3*(17), 215–235. https://doi.org/10.3390/j3020017
- Nassaji, H. (2020). Good qualitative research. *Language Teaching Research*, 24(4), 427–431. https://doi.org/10.1177/1362168820941288
- National Commission for the Protection of Human Subjects of Biomedical and Behavioral Research. (1979). *The Belmont reports*.

 https://www.hhs.gov/ohrp/regulations-and-policy/belmont-report/

- Neneh, B. N. (2019). From entrepreneurial alertness to entrepreneurial behavior: The role of trait competitiveness and proactive personality. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 138, 273–279. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2018.10.020
- Neubauer, B. E., Witkop, C. T., & Varpio, L. (2019). How phenomenology can help us learn from the experiences of others. *Perspectives on medical education*, 8(2), 90–97. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40037-019-0509-2
- Nguyen, H., Ahn, J., Belgrave, A., Lee, J., Cawelti, L., Kim, H. E., Prado, Y., Santagata, R., & Villavicencio, A. (2021). Establishing trustworthiness through algorithmic approaches to qualitative research. In advances in quantitative ethnography:

 **Second International Conference*, 2, 47–6. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-67788-6_29
- Noble, H., & Heale, R. (2019). Triangulation in research, with examples. *Evidence-based nursing*, 22(3), 67–68. http://dx.doi.org/10.1136/ebnurs-2019-103145
- Ntinda, K. (2019). Narrative Research. http://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-10-2779-6_79-1
- Omojola, T. R. (2019). Marketing education: A critical factor in reducing unemployment and entrepreneurship failure in developing economies. *Marketing*, *5*(2), 1–7. https://doi.10.21522/TIJMG.2015.05.02.Art005
- Omorede, A. (2021). Managing crisis: a qualitative lens on the aftermath of entrepreneurial failure. *International Entrepreneurship and Management Journal*, 17(3), 1441–1468. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11365-020-00655-0
- Ormerod, R. J. (2021). Pragmatism in professional practice. *Systems Research and Behavioral Science*, 38(6), 797-816. https://doi.org/10.1002/sres.2739

- Palinkas, L. A., Mendon, S. J., & Hamilton, A. B. (2019). Innovations in mixed methods evaluations. *Annual review of public health*, 40, 423–442.

 https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-publhealth-040218-044215
- Palmer, C., Niemand, T., Stöckmann, C., Kraus, S., & Kailer, N. (2019). The interplay of entrepreneurial orientation and psychological traits in explaining firm performance. *J. Bus. Res. 94*, 183–194. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2017.10.005
- Parker, S. C. (2018). The economics of entrepreneurship. *Faculty Publications*, 56(2), 231–232. http://erl.lib.byu.edu/trade-journals/
- Perin, A., Galbiati, T. F., Ayadi, R., Gambatesa, E., Orena, E. F., Riker, N. I., Silberberg, H., Sgubin, D., Meling, T. R., & DiMeco, F. (2021). Informed consent through 3D virtual reality: A randomized clinical trial. *Acta neurochirurgica*, *163*, 301–308. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00701-020-04303-y
- Pınarbaşı, A. T. (2022). Data privacy vs. data security vs. data protection: In-depth look.

 Termly. https://termly.io/resources/articles/data-privacy-vs-data-security-vs-data-protection/
- Pramono, R., Sondakh, L. W., Bernarto, I., Juliana, J., & Purwanto, A. (2021).

 Determinants of the small and medium enterprises progress: A case study of SME entrepreneurs in Manado, Indonesia. *The Journal of Asian Finance, Economics and Business*, 8(1), 881–889. https://doi.org/10.13106/jafeb.2021.vol8.no1.881
- Purworini, D., Purnamasari, D., & Hartuti, D. P. (2019). Crisis communication in a

- natural disaster: A chaos theory approach. *Jurnal Komunikasi: Malaysian Journal of Communication*, 35(2), 35–48. https://doi.org/10.17576/JKMJC-2019-3502-03
- Putra, Y. M. (2019). Analysis of factors affecting the interests of SMEs using accounting applications. *Journal of Economics and Business*, 2(3), 1–10. https://ssrn.com/abstract=3441519
- Quansah, E., & Hartz, D. E. (2021). Strategic adaptation: leadership lessons for small business survival and success. *American Journal of Business*, *36*(3/4), 190-207. https://doi.org/10.1108/AJB-07-2020-0096
- Rachapaettayakom, P., Wiriyapinit, M., Cooharojananone, N., Tanthanongsakkun, S., & Charoenruk, N. (2020). The need for financial knowledge acquisition tools and technology by small business entrepreneurs. *Journal of Innovation and Entrepreneurship*, 9, 1–28. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13731-020-00136-2
- Rahman, M. S. (2020). The advantages and disadvantages of using qualitative and quantitative approaches and methods in language "testing and assessment" research: A literature review. http://hdl.handle.net/10026.1/16598
- Rashid, S., & Ratten, V. (2022). Subsistence small business entrepreneurs in Pakistan. *Small Enterprise Research*, 29(2), 109–137. https://doi.org/10.1080/13215906.2021.1989625
- Rashid, Y., Rashid, A., Warraich, M. A., Sabir, S. S., & Waseem, A. (2019). Case study method: A step-by-step guide for business researchers. *International journal of qualitative methods*, 18, 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1177/1609406919862424
- Ratten, V., & Usmanij, P. (2021). Entrepreneurship education: Time for a change in

- research direction? *The International Journal of Management Education*, *19*(1), 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijme.2020.100367
- Rauch, A. (2020). Opportunities and threats in reviewing entrepreneurship theory and practice. *Entrepreneurship: Theory & Practice*, 44(5), 847–860. https://doi.org/10.1177/1042258719879635
- Ritz, W., Wolf, M., & McQuitty, S. (2019). "Digital marketing adoption and success for small businesses: The application of the do-it-yourself and technology acceptance models, "Journal of Research in Interactive Marketing, 13(2), 179-203.

 https://doi.org/10.1108/JRIM-04-2018-0062
- Rose, J., & Johnson, C. W. (2020). Contextualizing reliability and validity in qualitative research: Toward more rigorous and trustworthy qualitative social science in leisure research. *Journal of leisure research*, *51*(4), 432–451.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/00222216.2020.1722042
- Ross, P. T., & Bibler Zaidi, N. L. (2019). Limited by our limitations. *Perspectives on medical education*, 8(4), 261–264. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40037-019-00530-x
- Roth, L. J. (2020). Digital transformation: An executive guide to survive and thrive in the new economy. Balboa Press.
- Sahakyan, T. (2023). Member-Checking through Diagrammatic Elicitation: Constructing Meaning with Participants. *Tesol Quarterly*, *57*(2), 686-701. https://doi.org/10.1002/tesq.3210
- Sampat, B. N., & Shadlen, K. C. (2021). The COVID-19 innovation system: Article describes innovations that emerged during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Health*

- Affairs, 40(3), 400–409. https://doi.org/10.1377/hlthaff.2020.02097
- Schumpeter, J. A. (1934). The theory of economic development, translated by Redvers Opie. *Harvard: Economic Studies*, 46(1600), 0404.
- Schumpeter, J. A., & Opie, R. (1934). The theory of economic development: An inquiring into profits, capital, credit, interest, and the business cycle. Harvard University

 Press
- Segal, M. (2019). Key audit matters: insight from audit experts. *Meditari Accountancy**Research, 27(3), 472–494. https://doi.org/10.1108/MEDAR-06-2018-0355
- Seikkula-Leino, J. (2018). A review of entrepreneurship education in teacher education. *Malaysian Journal of Learning and Instruction*, 15(1), 105–148. https://doi.org/10.32890/mjli2018.15.1.5
- Shaheen, M., & Pradhan, S. (2019). Sampling in qualitative research. In *Qualitative* techniques for workplace data analysis, 25–51. https://doi.org/10.4018/978-1-5225-5366-3.ch002
- Shaikh, D., Ara, A., Kumar, M., Syed, D., Ali, A., & Shaikh, M. Z. (2021). A two-decade literature review on challenges faced by SMEs in technology adoption. *Academy of Marketing Studies Journal*, 25(3), 1–13. https://www.researchgate.net/publication/350787563
- Shane, S., & Venkataraman, S. (2000). The promise of entrepreneurship as a field of research. *Academy of Management Review*, 25(1), 217–226. https://doi.org/10.5465/amr.2000.2791611
- Skordoulis, M., Ntanos, S., Kyriakopoulos, G. L., Arabatzis, G., Galatsidas, S., &

- Chalikias, M. (2020). Environmental innovation, open innovation dynamics and competitive advantage of medium and large-sized firms. *Journal of Open Innovation: Technology, Market, and Complexity*, 6(4), 195. https://doi.org/10.3390/joitmc6040195
- Slettebø, T. (2021). Participant validation: Exploring a contested tool in qualitative research. *Qualitative Social Work*, 20(5), 1223–1238. https://doi.org/10.1177/1473325020968189
- Sorenson, O., Dahl, M. S., Canales, R., & Burton, M. D. (2021). Do startup employees earn more in the long run? *Organization Science*, *32*(3), 587–604. https://doi.org/10.1287/orsc.2020.1371
- Stahl, N. A., & King, J. R. (2020). Expanding approaches for research: Understanding and using trustworthiness in qualitative research. *Journal of Developmental Education*, 44(1), 26–28. http://www.jstor.org/stable/45381095
- Stanef-Puică, M. R., Badea, L., Şerban-Oprescu, G. L., Şerban-Oprescu, A. T., Frâncu, L. G., & Creţu, A. (2022). Green jobs—A literature review. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 19(13), 1–15.

 https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph19137998
- Stenfors, T., Kajamaa, A., & Bennett, D. (2020). How to assess the quality of qualitative research. *The clinical teacher*, 17(6), 596–599. https://doi.org/10.1111/tct.13242
- Stoilov, T., Stoilova, K., & Vladimirov, M. (2020). Quantitative entrepreneurship applying portfolio theory. *Scientific Conference Electronics (ET)*, 2020 XXIX International, 1–4. https://doi.org/10.1109/ET50336.2020.9238314

Stone, J. C., Glass, K., Clark, J., Munn, Z., Tugwell, P., & Doi, S. A. R. (2019). A unified framework for bias assessment in clinical research. *International Journal of Evidence-Based Healthcare*, 17(2), 106–120. https://doi.org/10.1097/XEB.000000000000165

- Stratton, S. (2019). Data sampling strategies for disaster and emergency health research. *Prehospital and Disaster Medicine*, *34*(3), 227–229. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1049023X19004412
- Stuckless, S., & Parfrey, P. S. (2021). Bias in clinical research. *Clinical Epidemiology:*Practice and Methods, 17–34. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-0716-1138-8_2
- Sullivan, D. M., Marvel, M. R., & Wolfe, M. T. (2021). With a little help from my friends? How learning activities and network ties impact performance for high tech startups in incubators. *Technovation*, *101*, 1–15.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.technovation.2020.102209
- Taiminen, K., & Ranaweera, C. (2019). Fostering brand engagement and value-laden trusted B2B relationships through digital content marketing: The role of brand's helpfulness. *European Journal of Marketing*. 53(9), 1759-1781. https://doi.org/10.1108/EJM-10-2017-0794
- Tenny, S., Brannan, G. D., Brannan, J. M., & Sharts-Hopko, N. C. (2021). Qualitative study. In StatPearls. StatPearls Publishing.

 https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK470395/
- Thaher, Y. A. Y., & Jaaron, A. A. M. (2022). The impact of sustainability strategic planning and management on the organizational sustainable performance: A

- developing-country perspective. *Journal of Environmental Management*, 305, 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2021.114381
- Thornton, M. (2019). Why did Cantillon change the meaning of entrepreneurship? *Mises, Interdisciplinary Journal of Philosophy Law and Economic*, 7(3), 545–558. https://doi.org/10.30800/mises.2019.v7.1241
- Tomaszewski, L. E., Zarestky, J., & Gonzalez, E. (2020). Planning qualitative research:

 Design and decision making for new researchers. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 19, 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1177/1609406920967174
- Turhan, N. S. (2019). Qualitative Research Designs: Which one is the best for your research? *European Journal of Special Education Research*, 4(2), 124–136. https://doi.org/10.5281/zenodo.3234969
- Turner, J. R., & Baker, R. M. (2019). Complexity theory: An overview with potential applications for the social sciences. *Systems*, 7(1), 4–22. https://doi.org/10.3390/systems7010004
- Ukko, J., Nasiri, M., Saunila, M., & Rantala, T. (2019). Sustainability strategy as a moderator in the relationship between digital business strategy and financial performance. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 236(1), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2019.117626
- Wahyuni, N. M., & Sara, I. M. (2020). The effect of entrepreneurial orientation variables on business performance in the SME industry context. *Journal of Workplace Learning*, 32(1), 35-62. https://doi.org/10.1108/JWL-03-2019-0033
- Weygandt, J. J., & Kimmel, P. D. (2022). Financial Accounting with International

- Financial Reporting Standards. John Wiley & Sons.
- Whittington, R., Angwin, D., Regner, P., Johnson, G., Scholes, K., & Koleva, P. (2019). *Exploring strategy, text, and cases*. Pearson Education.
- Williams, M., & Moser, T. (2019). The art of coding and thematic exploration in qualitative research. *International Management Review*, *15*(1), 45–55. http://www.imrjournal.org/uploads/1/4/2/8/14286482/imr-v15n1art4.pdf
- Williams, R. I., Jr., Smith, A., R Aaron, J., C Manley, S., & C McDowell, W. (2020).
 Small business strategic management practices and performance: A
 configurational approach. *Economic research-Ekonomska istraživanja*, 33(1),
 2378–2396. https://doi.org/10.1080/1331677X.2019.1677488
- Yin, R. K. (2018). Case study research and applications: Design and methods. (6th ed.) Sage.
- Young, R., Frazer, L., Weaven, S., Roussety, M., & Thaichon, P. (2019). Work hard, play hard: Work-life balance in small business. *Subsistence Entrepreneurship: The Interplay of Collaborative Innovation, Sustainability and Social Goals*, 195–213. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-11542-5_11
- Yusufu, O. S., Suleiman, O., & Akuh, J. I. (2020). Financial management strategy and the growth of small and medium enterprises in Nigeria. *Ilorin Journal of Human Resource Management*, 4(2), 145–154.

 https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Sunday-Ojochenemi-Yusufu-2/publication/344572651
- Zada, I. (2022). Organizational change management: Leadership roles in adapting new

- norms. *European Journal of Business and Management Research*, 7(4), 1–5. https://doi.org/10.24018/ejbmr.2022.7.4.1477
- Zada, M., Shah, S. J., Yukun, C., Rauf, T., Khan, N., & Shah, S. A. A. (2019). Impact of small-to-medium size forest enterprises on rural livelihood: Evidence from Khyber-Pakhtunkhwa, Pakistan. Sustainability, 11(10), 2–17
 https://doi.org/10.3390/su11102989
- Zairul, M. (2021). Can member check be verified in real time? Introducing arc (asking, record, confirm) for member checking validation strategy in qualitative research. *Engineering Journal*, 25(1), 245–251.

 https://doi.org/10.4186/ej.2021.25.1.245
- Zhang, T., Gerlowski, D., & Acs, Z. (2022). Working from home: Small business performance and the COVID-19 pandemic. *Small Business Economics*, 58, 611–636. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11187-021-00493-6
- Zhao, W., Yang, T., Hughes, K. D., & Li, Y. (2021). Entrepreneurial alertness and business model innovation: the role of entrepreneurial learning and risk perception. *International Entrepreneurship and Management Journal*, 17(2), 839–864. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11365-020-00637-2
- Zhe, B. O. M., & Hamid, N. A. (2021). The impact of digital technology, digital capability, and digital innovation on small business performance. *Research in Management of Technology and Business*, 2(1), 499–509.

 https://publisher.uthm.edu.my/periodicals/index.php/rmtb/article/view/1932
- Zheng, J., & Khalid, H. (2022). The adoption of enterprise resource planning and

business intelligence systems in small and medium enterprises: A conceptual framework. *Mathematical Problems in Engineering*, 1–15.

 $\underline{https:/\!/doi.org/10.1155/2022/1829347}$

Appendix A: Interview Protocol

Strategies Small Business Owners Use to Extend Organization Life Beyond 5 Years

Interview Protocol:

- Meet and introduce yourself to each participant.
- Clarify the purpose of the study.
- Go over the consent form with each participant and address all participant concerns.
- Give each participant time to sign the consent form.
- Give each participant a copy of the signed consent form.
- Reassure each participant that the interview is voluntary and they may withdraw from the interview at any time.
- Get permission from each participant to record the interview using a recording audio device before turning on the recorder.
- Reassure each participant that the interview responses and data will be anonymous and confidential.
- Inform each participant of the range of time the interview will last.
- Ask each participant all interview questions along with follow up questions.
- Thank each participant for their participation in the study and answer any questions and concerns of the participants.

Member Checking Outline

- I. Greet the participant and provide context for the study.'
- II. Confirm participants' details for accuracy
- III. Ask if the participant has any concerns or queries
- IV. Thank the participant for their involvement
- V. Provide researcher contact information for follow-up if needed.

Appendix B: Interview Questions

- 1. How long did it take you to develop a successful business?
- 2. What changes and strategies have you implemented to enhance the productivity of your organization?
- 3. What are the organizational strategies that you have planned to enhance the productivity rate?
- 4. What are the influences used that support the success rate of the organization?
- 5. What are the strategies used to gain the valuable resources needed for long-term success?
- 6. What are the management strategies used to control the financial issues that can affect the organizational goals?